
 

 

Legislative Council 

Thursday, 10 May 2007 

                 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Nick Griffiths) took the chair at 11.00 am, and read prayers. 

DAYLIGHT SAVING 
Petition 

HON SIMON O’BRIEN (South Metropolitan) [11.02 am]:  I present the following petition - 
To the Honourable the President and Members of the Legislative Council of the Parliament of Western 
Australia in Parliament assembled. 
We the undersigned residents of Western Australia are opposed to the continuation of the three year 
daylight saving trial. 
Your petitioners therefore respectfully request the Legislative Council to support the call for a 
referendum of daylight savings before October of 2007. 
And your petitioners as in duty bound, will ever pray. 

The petition bears 200 signatures and I certify that it conforms to the standing orders of the Legislative Council. 
[See paper 2703.] 

“REPORT OF THE INQUIRY INTO THE CITY OF SOUTH PERTH 2006:  INQUIRY UNDER 
DIVISION 1 PART 8 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1995, MAY 2007” 

Statement by Leader of the House 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural - Leader of the House) [11.03 am]:  My statement is made on behalf of 
the Minister for Local Government, and relates to the tabling and printing of the “Report of the Inquiry into the 
City of South Perth 2006:  Inquiry under Division 1 Part 8 of the Local Government Act 1995, May 2007”.   

The Director General of the Department of Local Government and Regional Development authorised an inquiry 
under division 1, part 8, of the Local Government Act 1995 into the City of South Perth on 20 June 2006.  The 
authorisation for the inquiry followed an approach by the Mayor of the City of South Perth, Mr John Collins, JP, 
to investigate matters concerning the city’s handling of a demolition licence application for a property located at 
27 South Perth Esplanade, as well as other issues relating to councillor and officer conduct.  The inquiry 
obtained several hundred documents as evidence, and authorised persons interviewed 26 people on oath.  
Following this, those persons affected by critical or adverse comments or findings were provided with sections 
of the draft inquiry report to allow them to respond, in accordance with the principles of natural justice.  Thirteen 
such responses were received.  The responses were considered by the inquiry, and, where deemed appropriate, 
amendments were made to the inquiry report.  The inquiry report was then independently scrutinised by the State 
Solicitor’s Office.  Legal advice provided by the State Solicitor’s Office for earlier matters of a similar nature 
has indicated that the report should be tabled in Parliament, and Parliament should order or authorise publication 
in order to avoid defamation proceedings.  Mere tabling of the report is insufficient and of no relevant legal 
effect.  The house must order or give its authority to have the report published, as immunity from defamation 
proceedings against the state or an individual can be applied only if the publishing has been ordered or 
authorised by Parliament. 
The inquiry report made 15 finding concerning individuals and council collectively, and seven recommendations 
concerning council and its processes.  The inquiry report contains substantial evidence that council failed to 
provide fair and reasonable decision making on the issues involved, and that relationships between elected 
members has suffered.  The inquiry report found that, while not sufficient to warrant the council being 
suspended, failure to provide good government on the issues involved has the potential to impact on other 
aspects of the provision of good government.  Council will be given 60 days to effect the recommendations of 
the inquiry.  The minister reserves the right to exercise the powers available under the Local Government Act 
1995 should there be a failure to effect the recommendations of the inquiry, or failure to provide good 
government.   
I seek leave to move a motion without notice concerning the tabling and printing of the report. 
Leave granted. 
Hon KIM CHANCE - without notice:  I move -  

That the “Report of the Inquiry into the City of South Perth 2006:  Inquiry under Division 1 Part 8 of 
the Local Government Act 1995, May 2007” do lie upon the table and be printed. 
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Question put and passed. 

[See paper 2704.]   

Consideration of the statement made an order of the day for the next sitting, on motion by Hon Bruce 
Donaldson.   

PAPERS TABLED 
Papers were tabled and ordered to lie upon the table of the house. 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
Eighth Report Addendum - Local Government Amendment Bill (No. 2) 2006 

Hon Louise Pratt presented an addendum to the eighth report of the Standing Committee on Environment and 
Public Affairs in relation to the Local Government Amendment Bill (No. 2) 2006, and on her motion it was 
resolved -  

That the addendum to the report do lie upon the table and be printed. 

[See paper 2705.] 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON UNIFORM LEGISLATION AND STATUTES REVIEW 
Eighteenth Report - Consumer Credit (Queensland) and Another Act Amendment Bill 2007 

Hon Simon O’Brien presented the eighteenth report of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and 
Statutes Review in relation to the Consumer Credit (Queensland) and Another Act Amendment Bill 2007, 
Queensland, and on his motion it was resolved -  

That the report do lie upon the table and be printed. 

[See paper 2706.] 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON ESTIMATES AND FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 
Special Report - Annual Budget Estimates Hearings 

HON GIZ WATSON (North Metropolitan) [11.08 am]:  I am directed to report that on 2 May 2007, the 
Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations resolved to hold the annual budget estimates hearing 
in relation to the 2007-08 budget on 21 June 2007.  The committee is currently considering its program for the 
2007-08 budget estimates, and is distributing to members in the chamber today an agency nomination form for 
both the committee’s annual budget estimates hearings and the ongoing budget estimates hearings that the 
committee intends to hold throughout the year.  The committee asks members to complete and return the 
nomination forms to the committee by next Thursday, 17 May 2007.  I move -  

That the report do lie upon the table and be printed.   

Question put and passed. 

[See paper 2707.] 

GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Motion 

Resumed from 3 May on the following motion by Hon Norman Moore (Leader of the Opposition) - 

That this house expresses its grave concern at the significant deterioration in the governance and 
administration of the state of Western Australia resulting from a government preoccupied with 
continued internal division and conflict, manipulated by outside influences and increasingly 
demonstrating serious signs of dysfunction, and calls on the government to urgently address the issues 
raised by the Corruption and Crime Commission and refocus its attention on restoring public 
confidence in the capacity of the government to govern for all Western Australians without fear or 
favour. 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural - Leader of the House) [11.11 am] - without notice:  On behalf of 
Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich, I seek leave for the Minister for Local Government to continue her comments on this 
motion at a later sitting of the house. 

Leave granted. 

The PRESIDENT:  The motion is still before the house.  The question is that the motion be agreed to.  I give 
the call to Hon Nigel Hallett.  

HON NIGEL HALLETT (South West) [11.12 am]:  Mr President.   
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Hon Ken Travers:  Great speech; the best ever!  

Hon Simon O’Brien:  As far as content and brevity go, it was better than any of yours!   

The PRESIDENT:  Order, members!  Hon Nigel Hallett has not yet given his speech.  Members can make the 
comment that Hon Nigel Hallett has given a great speech at the end of his speech.   

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Thank you, Mr President.  I am sure my speech will have a lot more substance and 
detail than any of the speeches given by Hon Ken Travers.   

I fully support Hon Norman Moore’s motion.  I will consider in my speech how the motion relates to rural and 
regional Western Australia.  The people in rural and regional WA have had enough of this government and its 
track record of not being able to deliver basic services.  When this motion was moved in March, there were calls 
from members on the other side of the house that the motion was wrong.  However, one only has to look at the 
repeated opinions that have been expressed in The West Australian about this government not being able to 
deliver to know that the motion is right.  This government has proved that it “can’t do”.  Small hairline fractures 
in the government’s administration started to appear in 2001, but they were wallpapered over during the term of 
the Gallop government.  The honeymoon has come and gone, and now the government has sunk into a state of 
decay.  The sacking of several ministers has depleted the pool of members from which the government can 
choose its ministers.  The government has become dysfunctional.  It has well and truly taken its eye off the ball, 
and it does not appear to have the ability or intent to refocus any time soon.  In general, the government has lost 
the public’s confidence in its capacity to govern for all Western Australians, particularly those in rural and 
regional areas.  The government’s track record of treating many regional areas with contempt has raised many 
questions.  

Hon Ken Travers:  You’ve got a tough gig today giving this speech before the Treasurer brings down another 
great budget, haven’t you?  Did you draw a short straw in the party room to keep the job? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  I hope the Treasurer brings down a great budget for Western Australia. 

Hon Ken Travers:  He will! 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  All we have seen is an increase in taxes.  Western Australia is the highest taxed state 
in Australia.  

Hon Ken Travers:  The government cut taxes last year, the year before that and the year before that.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Is it not incredible?  What did the federal government do with its big surplus?  It has 
provided tax relief.   

Hon Ken Travers:  How has it done that?  It steals from WA.    

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Steals from WA my eye!   

When this government first came into office, it had an $11 billion budget, and its budget could possibly be about 
$20 billion this year, yet taxes have been increased each year.  

Hon Ken Travers:  We reduced taxes last year - look at the budget! 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  What taxes did the government reduce? 

The PRESIDENT:  Order, members!  Hon Ken Travers has already given a speech on this motion.  Hon Nigel 
Hallett should not encourage Hon Ken Travers to give another speech at this stage.   

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Thank you, Mr President.   

Taxes have increased slightly.  There has been a 53 per cent increase in stamp duty.  Payroll tax, and stamp duty 
on cars, have also increased.  People are having to sell their properties because of the abhorrent land tax that the 
government will not do anything about.  

Hon Ken Travers:  Which tax? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  I am talking about land tax.  Although it brings in $300-odd million for the state, 
people are receiving bills of between $50 000 and $100 000.  What is the government doing about it?  It is doing 
absolutely nothing.  I hope today’s budget confronts the issue and does something about it.  

Hon Ken Travers:  What do you think we should do about it? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Get rid of it! 

Hon Ken Travers:  Completely?  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Get rid of it completely; it certainly needs reducing.  This government has punished 
first home buyers in this state and has failed to give them any tax relief on stamp duty.  The feds have cut taxes 
while the state has increased taxes.   
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In the 2005-06 financial year, the state government received more than $1.8 billion worth of mining royalties 
from the Western Australian resource industry, two-thirds of which came from the Pilbara and Kimberley.  The 
revenue that flows from those regions allows the government to enjoy unprecedented budget surpluses that it 
blatantly and unashamedly allocates, more often than not, to metropolitan-based projects and infrastructure.  The 
government will not tell us the final figure - or as near to it as possible - of the Perth-Mandurah rail.  What is the 
government hiding?   

Hon Ken Travers:  Do you think Mandurah is part of the metropolitan area?   

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  It is that close that it does not matter.  

Hon Ken Travers:  Is it part of it, or not? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Officially, no, but it is that close. 

Hon Ken Travers:  When you were debating the electoral legislation, you argued that it was.  You remember 
that, don’t you? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  I will move on from that.  

Given the recent budget surpluses, the imbalance between the allocation of resources to the metropolitan and 
regional areas is disgraceful.  Most people acknowledge that cuts have been made in spending in regional areas.  
The government has not been able to deliver on water.  Only a couple of days ago, the government said in this 
house that police numbers have not decreased.  At 30 June 2006, there were 12 430 police officers.  Six months 
later, that figure had decreased to 12 098.  

Hon Ken Travers:  Are you saying that we’ve got 12 000 police?  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  As at 30 June 2006, there were 12 430 police officers.  As at 31 December 2006, 
there were 12 098 police officers.  

Hon Ken Travers:  Can you identify the document that you’re quoting from? 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  No.  

It is time to upgrade necessary infrastructure to support and develop an economic basis that will ensure that the 
people who live in regional Western Australia can enjoy the same security and quality of life enjoyed by people 
in the metropolitan area.  We are totally aware that with a record surplus budget on the way - some pundits have 
estimated that is about $2.5 billion - excessive taxation will be levied on people and businesses in Western 
Australia.  
An article that appeared in The West Australian on 4 April reported that Western Australia is the highest taxed 
state in the country.  This equates to every person paying more than $3 000 in state taxes.  As I have mentioned, 
those increases have been in stamp duty etc.  The government should not be employing more public servants and 
stashing money in the war chest.  There are now 18 000 public servants, which equates to $2.58 billion in public 
sector wages.  It all comes back to a government that has not been able to deliver basic infrastructure for regional 
WA.  The Carpenter government is continuing to claim that these surpluses are a result of good economic 
management.  However, one should look at the tax take.  The government cannot manage the Western Australian 
economy, and it cannot govern.  It cannot fix the health system and reduce the hospital waiting lists.  The 
minister has said that nothing is wrong with the health system.  However, page 3 of The West Australian of 
3 May states - 

Emergency hospitals in meltdown, say doctors. 
Dr David Mountain is one of those doctors.  The hospitals are at full capacity, yet we have not even reached the 
winter flu season.  Therefore, not many doctors agree with the minister that the hospital system is not in 
meltdown.  The government has not been able to fix the health system.  One of its promises to the people of 
Western Australia was that it would fix it.  It is worse.  The government cannot put police on the street.  It is 
taking services out of country regions, such as licensing checks.  There has been no improvement in the delivery 
of basic services to the people of rural and regional Western Australia. 
Labor members of Parliament in regional areas are aware of the situation.  The current member for Central 
Kimberley-Pilbara, Tom Stephens, is quoted in the North West Telegraph of 4 April 2007 as saying that the 
government faces a huge task in rectifying the situation in these regions that the lack of infrastructure spending 
in the past has created.  He said that the regions had not done as well out of national and state economic growth 
as had metropolitan areas.  He said that it is a major challenge for local government, and that we have to find, 
particularly in the Pilbara and the north west generally, an income stream commensurate with the needs of these 
local authorities.  There it is.  One of the government’s own members is arguing against what members opposite 
are trying to tell me.  That is straight from someone who knows the area.  He knows what is not being done and 
what this government is not doing.  He has acknowledged that the lack of infrastructure is proof of endemic 
neglect by past and present governments.  This can be said to be true, but now we have a government with the 
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resources to do something about it, but it has not done so.  This highlights once again that it is a government that 
cannot deliver. 

There are severe land shortages in towns such as Karratha and Port Hedland, which are bursting at the seams 
with people wanting to live and work there.  Mining companies are being forced to buy hotels and motels to 
house their workers because of the land and rental accommodation shortage.  This, in turn, will have a dramatic 
effect on tourism come mid-year.  Average families who want to work and live in these towns cannot afford to 
pay the rent, let alone buy a house.  However, the government continues to drag its feet with a very slow trickle 
of land releases.  Consequently, with the law of supply and demand, the land commands a very high price.  This 
limited supply of land has led to exorbitant prices, as we all know, and this needs to be addressed now.  The 
median house price in Perth has increased from $275 000 to $460 000, which is a 67 per cent increase over the 
past two years.  Once again, in regional areas this is a result of the government failing to make sure that the 
supply of land keeps up with the demand.  The demand does not look like slowing, and the estimated shortfall of 
residential blocks will be about 60 000 over the next 20 years. 

New ports and expanded facilities are needed, with the potential for iron ore exports to grow from 235 million 
tonnes per annum to a capacity of 595 million tonnes over the next 10 years.  Each week, more and more 
projects are coming on stream, and we are hearing of companies now putting in their own power systems and 
providing their own water.  They cannot wait for the government to do it.  Bearing in mind the future 
development of Western Australia’s vital resources sector, I find this very interesting as the resources sector is 
such a huge revenue generator for the government, and it keeps the big budget surpluses coming in, yet the 
government cannot reduce the ridiculous and unnecessary amounts of red tape associated with the assessments 
for approval of mining applications.  The recent figures show that there is a backlog of about 9 000 applications, 
and it is estimated that they will blow out to some 15 000 by December this year. 

I am sure that members will be familiar with the report from the Fraser Institute, which is an independent 
Canadian economic research group, and which ranked Western Australia as the least attractive state for mining 
investment because of the state government’s policies.  The Chamber of Minerals and Energy has also said the 
same.  Given the fact that the resources sector underpins the Western Australian economy, one would think that 
this would have set the alarm bells ringing and that there would have been some swift action to rectify this 
situation.  However, I do not think any of us have seen that.  Unfortunately, that is still the case.  This state needs 
an efficient, effective approvals system so that this vital part of the economy can progress.  This is another 
example of this government not being able to deliver.  It is a government that “can’t do”. 

That brings me to the issue of public servants.  An extra 3 629 public servants were employed last year, bringing 
the total number to 103 296, which is a 20 per cent increase since this government came to power in 2001.  In 
addition to that, according to a recent report from the Auditor General, almost a third of departmental chief 
executives are employed in an acting capacity, with no key performance indicators to measure their outcomes to 
see whether they are doing their jobs properly.  This shows a gross lack of responsibility by this government for 
the accountability of those at the highest public service levels in this state.  It is interesting that today’s The West 
Australian states - 

Public Sector Standards Commissioner Maxine Murray has drawn timely attention to the insidious 
politicising of WA’s public service.  The betrayal of democratic principle and rejection of the precepts 
of public morality in turning the public service into an instrument of party politics are bad enough. 

The PRESIDENT:  Order!  Hon Paul Llewellyn would be aware that mobile phones should not be switched on 
in the chamber. 

Hon Paul Llewellyn:  Absolutely, Mr President.  I am astounded that I left it on. 

The PRESIDENT:  So am I. 

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  The article continues - 

Worse is the effect this is having in the deplorable standard of government that is cynically offered to 
West Australians.  The Government is awash with unprecedented amounts of money generated by the 
mining boom, but its performance on providing some key services to the community ranges from the 
barely acceptable to the crisis-ridden. 

For example, the health system. 

I will deal with electricity infrastructure.  Just recently at Easter, the power was off in Denmark for six hours.  
Denmark and Walpole had a total of 30 blackouts, totalling around 20 hours, over that Easter period.  It is the 
busiest time of the year for those towns.  Businesses suffered.  They lost thousands of dollars.  Cafes and 
restaurants could not operate, and petrol pumps and the old automatic teller machines would not work.  Tourists 
and residents alike were greatly inconvenienced.  That is unacceptable in a state such as Western Australia.  
Walpole is currently suffering a water and energy crisis, and this government is taking no notice.  In both those 
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towns, property developments have stalled because Western Power cannot get its act together and confirm the 
cost of electrical supplies to these new sites and who is going to pay for them.  This is all under the guise of 
trying to make capital contributions more equitable.  It is cost shifting to developers.  Supposedly an amount of 
$12 million will be spent, but developers must contribute.  While all of this is being sorted out at Western 
Power’s leisure, development has come to a grinding halt in some of these areas.  We need a quick resolution to 
the provision of adequate infrastructure, particularly, as I have noted, for electricity and water supplies.  This 
would not occur in the city.  Residents, businesses and tourists in these towns are suffering once again because 
this government cannot provide basic amenities such as power and water.  It “can’t do”.  Walpole was carting 
water for residents during the summer.  Its water capacity and sewerage infrastructure need to be increased 
urgently.  The outdated infrastructure of Western Power and the Water Corporation is costing the people of rural 
and regional Western Australia, and this government has not done anything to rectify the situation. 

The government’s neglect of rural and regional areas, as outlined in a recent announcement, is to spend 
$3.5 billion on Western Australia’s electricity network, but there is no specific reference to anything being spent 
in these areas.  Although $26 million has been earmarked to be spent over the next two years through the rural 
power improvement program, this is less than one per cent of the $3.5 billion budget, even though $60 million is 
to be spent over three years in areas that suffer poor reliability.  Once again, nothing specific has been allocated 
to the towns of Walpole and Denmark.  Members should watch this money being thrown around in marginal 
seats as the next election moves closer.  The areas I have just spoken about are not marginal seats.  

Schools in rural and regional Western Australia are another very good example of rapidly deteriorating 
infrastructure.  The plight of the WA College of Agriculture in Harvey is an excellent case in point.  It remains 
neglected, even though a recent report from the Department of Housing and Works estimated that at least 
$1 million in repairs and upgrades is required.  This college, which is responsible for educating and training our 
future leaders in the agricultural sector, received a paltry $290 000 under the Fixing Our Schools program to 
spend on general maintenance.  As I will elaborate a bit later, a large percentage of this grant will have been paid 
to the Department of Housing and Works in management fees.  It is obvious that that amount will not even 
scratch the surface when we see firsthand what needs to be done.  It is outrageous that some metropolitan state 
schools have received significant funding, while the maintenance and risk management issues surrounding 
outdated and very inadequate facilities for housing and educating 103 students at the Harvey campus are allowed 
to continue.  

Hon Peter Collier:  The raising of the school leaving age has put pressure on those schools.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Yes; Hon Peter Collier has seen firsthand the poor state of the Harvey agriculture 
college.  Students who are studying farm management at that site live in old shearers’ quarters with no scheme 
water.  It is an absolute joke!  Can members imagine the same situation happening in a metropolitan school?  
Such a facility would be closed immediately.  In addition, the recreational facilities for the school’s 99 boarders 
are deteriorating badly.  When $5.3 million was recently handed out by the Minister for Sport and Recreation to 
improve facilities across Western Australia, the Harvey agriculture college received absolutely nothing.  Again, I 
ask whether this would be tolerated in the metropolitan area.  I think the answer would be no.  Why must those 
students make do with this substandard facility after school hours and on weekends?  In 2003, the Bunbury 
Education Office recommended in a report to the Department of Education and Training that it sell the Harvey 
site and consolidate the whole college on the Wokalup site.  This was later followed by a committee report 
recommending this take place over three to four years.  That period would have ended in, roughly, 2007.  The 
Carpenter government’s own member for Collie-Wellington has also called for this to happen, but his 
government is not listening to him.  How can the people of regional and rural Western Australia have confidence 
in a government that does not even listen to its own members who acknowledge the serious inequity between 
metropolitan and rural areas in the allocation of resources within Western Australia.  In a recent speech, the 
Leader of the House said that the government had opened 31 new schools since 2001 and will open three more in 
2007.  
Hon Simon O’Brien:  That would be below the number we opened in government.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  It is a long way behind.  I would like to know how many of them are in regional 
areas. 
Hon Kim Chance:  Heaps, probably; I don’t know.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Only three are opening in 2007, so it cannot be too many.  As I briefly mentioned, 
this government has been ripping out millions of dollars in fees from these rural and regional schools and has 
been the beneficiary of school grants from the Investing in Our Schools program.  These grants cover things such 
as sporting facilities, air conditioning, assembly areas and playgrounds.  When it undertakes to build schools or 
install facilities, the Department of Housing and Works charges a 17.5 per cent management fee - often it is 
much more - on rural school projects, while metropolitan schools have been paying 12 per cent in project 
management fees.  
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Hon Peter Collier:  Dozens of those projects have been cancelled as a result.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  That is dead right.  The federal Department of Education, Science and Training 
believes that the figure at some country schools is as high as 23 per cent.  Once again, rural and regional schools 
are getting a pretty raw deal.  The West Australian of 4 April 2007 provided some examples of this situation.  
The Tincurrin Primary School received an $80 000 grant to build a shaded playground and had to pay $18 182 in 
management fees to the Department of Housing and Works - namely, 23 per cent of the grant.  The Meckering 
Primary School was given a $9 012 grant to build a playground and had to pay the Department of Housing and 
Works $2 041 in management fees - once again, 23 per cent.  On 12 April, The West Australian again reported 
that out of $130 000, the Augusta Primary School was forced to pay $149 000 for a project - $19 000 more than 
the grant.  It had initially received a quote of $74 000 from a private contractor, but was told it had to get quotes 
through the Department of Housing and Works.  

Hon Peter Collier:  They don’t have an option; they must go through housing and works.  They cannot go to a 
private contractor, which more often than not will be half the price.  They are paying double the price in 
management fees, which is ridiculous.  

Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  It was only after management fees were reduced and after many complaints were 
received from the school that this project went ahead.  It is scandalous that these commonwealth grants used to 
pay for the much-needed facilities in our schools are being taken away by this greedy government, particularly 
when Catholic and independent schools are able to keep the full amount because neither the Catholic Education 
Office nor the Association of Independent Schools takes any of the grant. 
Hon Peter Collier:  Don’t forget John Willcock College and the issue Murray Criddle brought up about 
computers.   
Hon NIGEL HALLETT:  Exactly.  As I said before, it is a government that has taken its eye off the ball and is 
not paying attention to people, particularly those in rural and regional Western Australia.  How can this 
government claim to govern for all Western Australians without fear or favour when it is so utterly compromised 
by recent events and consumed by internal issues, and the constant elbowing for positions of influence in 
factions that drive these issues?  How can the people of Western Australia have confidence in this government, 
the real colours and workings of which have been so publicly displayed in recent months?   

While talking about public confidence, how can I not mention Labor’s revolving door of ministers?  One of the 
best examples is in my electorate of the South West Region.  There have been seven ministers responsible for the 
south west in six years, and seven ministers responsible for local government, a couple of which have been 
recycled.  By all accounts, there will be another change by the end of the year in the local government ministry.  
The current Minister for the South West, Hon Mark McGowan, is having a second go at the south west portfolio, 
for which he has had responsibility again for a few months.  Before that, Norm Marlborough, the sixth minister, 
was responsible for the south west.  I do not think Minister McGowan has a great passion for the south west.  In 
his initial role as the minister, he did not show any passion and I cannot see him bringing any passion back into 
the region now.  He holds contempt for this wonderful part of Western Australia.  That was evident when he 
responded to concerns about where the Busselton District Hospital is to be relocated when he referred to the 
people who complained as a bunch of disaffected old libs, which shows how caring a minister he is.  That is just 
one example of Labor’s revolving door of ministers who have held portfolios for a very short period before some 
government problem or revelation has forced them to be moved to another portfolio, and, in some cases, to be 
removed altogether.   
With such examples, it is easy to see the significant deterioration in the governance and administration of the 
state of Western Australia, and how public confidence in this Carpenter government has been seriously eroded.  
It will be a very difficult task indeed to restore the Western Australian public’s faith in this government.  It 
remains to be seen whether the government will win back the public’s confidence and prove that it can govern 
without fear or favour.  I believe this government is haemorrhaging; it is dysfunctional and, as I said earlier 
today; it is a government that “can’t do”. 

HON KEN BASTON (Mining and Pastoral) [11.39 am]:  I support this motion, which can be broken down 
into three dot points: the preoccupation of this government with internal division and conflict, the manipulation 
by outside influences and increasing signs of serious dysfunction.   
It is interesting what we have heard and read from tapes and transcripts.  It disturbs me that businesses in the 
state have to use lobbyists of the likes of Brian Burke to get decisions to be made by ministers.  I find it quite 
amazing.  Within my region is Broome airport.  There was a need to get through to the minister because people 
were not getting the answers they needed.  I inspected the airport with the owners.  Their concern at the time was 
that they were under pressure to accommodate a new aircraft - a DASH 8 - which was to be based there by the 
federal government for customs purposes and surveillance.  Surveillance is very important in looking for 
Indonesian fishermen, etc and apprehending them before they create any biosecurity problems for the fishing and 
pearling industries or, even worse, for people in Western Australia. 
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There was already a suitable hangar at the airport but it needed moving so that the additional customs aircraft 
could be housed.  The airport applied to move the hangar to the other side of the airport.  Interestingly enough, 
when an application was made to the local council, it was advised that it had been given a direction from 
“above” that it was not to accept any other infrastructure at the airport because the airport was going to be 
moved.  Since this state government has been in office, the airport owners have been advised that the airport will 
not be moved, and $16 million has been spent on it.  The owners of the airport do not believe that it needs to be 
moved.  However, they were desperate to move the hangar to accommodate the new aircraft, which include 
helicopters that will service the Browse Basin.  In total frustration, the owners looked to deal with the problem.  
It disturbs me, as a member of this house and a member of Parliament, of the course a private business has to go 
through to find out what is going on.  Anyone should be able to make an appointment with a minister, front him 
straight on and get an answer rather than having to use a lobbyist to get results. 
This has come to light in an article in today’s The West Australian, which I read this morning.  It concerns the 
member for Central Kimberley-Pilbara, Tom Stephens, MLA.  He is an excellent member, who has been around 
for some time, and who was a member of this house.  He was also a minister in the Gallop government.  He is a 
man of great experience. 
Hon Simon O’Brien:  He was also a minister briefly in the Lawrence government. 
Hon KEN BASTON:  Thank you, Hon Simon O’Brien.  It was remiss of me to not include that.  Tom Stephens 
is accusing the Minister for Health of not solving the problems of health in the state.  His comments are in the 
press today for everyone to read.  He accuses the government of what this motion is talking about.  Members 
within the ranks of the government see what is happening.  No wonder a motion such as this is before the house.  
Issues reiterating this have come to light in my region over the past year.  I have spoken on, and asked questions 
about, the Carnarvon courthouse and police station.  There are other issues, which I will allude to in a minute, 
concerning Coral Bay.   
For the benefit of the house I will read a letter that was in the Northern Guardian on 4 April.  It was an open 
letter to the member for North West Coastal.  It states - 

Dear Mr Riebeling, 

It is with respect and in our capacity as former Shire Presidents of the Shire of Carnarvon that we write 
seeking your support. 

We have read the press release from Premier Carpenter regarding the Justice Precinct Development for 
Carnarvon, and we can only presume that he has not been advised of the strong community opposition 
to the Court House and Police Complex remaining on its present site. 

We are therefore requesting that you, in your role as our Member of the Legislative Assembly, and as 
an influential Member of the Government, inform the Honourable Premier and the Minister of Police of 
our community’s overwhelming support for Premier Gallop’s promise to relocate these premises. 

It is our view, and the view of the overwhelming majority (92%) of respondents to a community survey, 
the Gascoyne Development Commission Board’s view, and the Shire Council’s unanimous view that 
the Court House and Police Station must be moved out of the present town block to enable us to plan 
for a vibrant central business district through Enquiry by Design. 

The Premier has been poorly advised, his decision is unacceptable, and we request that you facilitate a 
meeting with us, or a public meeting for him in Carnarvon as soon as possible to hear the community’s 
views.   

Yours faithfully, 

. . .  
The letter is signed by three past shire presidents.  The first is Wallace J. Dale, JP, shire president from 1984 to 
1990 and a freeman of the town of Carnarvon.  He is a very respected gentleman.  The second is Thomas A. 
Day, shire president from 1990 to 1996, and a freeman of the town of Carnarvon.  He was a highly respected 
shire president and member of the community of Carnarvon.  The third is Delys A. Cole - known as Delys Mills 
until she recently remarried - who was a shire president from 1996 to 2003.  She is also a life member of the 
Western Australian Local Government Association.  Those three people are held in high regard by all members 
of the community of the shire.  When they publicly put into print their disappointment at not being listened to, 
we should realise the level of dysfunction that is occurring. 
I also have a copy of the letter that the member for North West Coastal wrote in reply.  The letterhead actually 
refers to the member for Burrup.  That is probably why things are not getting done in the town.  He probably 
does not realise that the electorate has changed.  The electorate of North West Coastal takes in Carnarvon.  The 
letter was sent to the three past shire presidents who signed the open letter.  I will read parts of the letter because 
he includes a brag list - 
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Dear Mr Dale 
Re:  Carnarvon Justice Complex Redevelopment 

 
In response to your open letter to me printed in the Northern Guardian on the 4th of April, I wish to 
advise that I have no record of receipt of your original letter.  I would appreciate it if you would forward 
a copy of the original letter to my Carnarvon office . . .  Notwithstanding that, I would like to comment 
on the assertions contained in your letter as follows. 
Within the current commitment to redevelop the complex there is not a requirement for the replacement 
complex to be built on the same footprint.  The replacement complex will be placed along Camel Lane 
allowing the existing complex to continue to service Carnarvon until the new complex is complete at 
which point it would be demolished. 

Hon Vince Catania was at a public meeting and he put out a vote, and he had, as was mentioned in the previous 
letter - 

Hon Vincent Catania:  It was a survey. 

Hon KEN BASTON:  A survey?  I thank the member.  The survey overwhelmingly indicated support for a 
move to a site that had been purchased by the local government.  Nothing upsets local people more than a 
member visiting a town and saying, “This is what you’ve got to have.”  If we will have regionalisation, there 
should be some form of consideration for those people.  I believe that consultation without listening is totally and 
utterly wrong.  The letter continues - 

I would also point out that all significant tourism focused towns in WA have their police and justice 
complexes located in a significant location within the town.  Examples of this include Broome, Albany 
and Geraldton.   

Geraldton’s police complex was located out of town at one stage, and the town built around it and extended.  
Carnarvon would like to do something very similar.  Carnarvon is looking ahead and planning.  I can remember 
when the new powerhouse was built in Carnarvon, everyone said it was too far out of town.  It now has to be 
moved again because it has come to be near the middle of town.  I do not think examples can be drawn from 
older towns like that.  I do not think that the police station in Broome is located in the centre of town.  In fact, 
where is the centre of Broome?  I cannot comment on Albany because I have not been there.   

I must also point out the $40 million development that the member has alluded to.  Yes, of course, any town 
would very gladly receive the assistance of having money pour in, and, of course, $40 million is a large amount 
of capital to be invested in a town.  However, if it is not spent wisely and does not take into account planning for 
the future development of the town, it is not actually a wise investment.  The letter continues - 

The Enquiry by Design workshop had a wide range of participants and all had the opportunity to air 
their views on this and the other proposals. 

The information I have received is that, yes, they aired their views, but they are still not being listened to.  I find 
that disappointing. 
Hon Vincent Catania:  The Enquiry by Design has not gone to public comment yet; we are still waiting for the 
results. 
Hon KEN BASTON:  I think we know the results. 
Hon Vincent Catania:  We’ll have to wait and see. 
Hon KEN BASTON:  I am a cynic; I have been around for a while.  The letter continues - 

I am also committed to the redevelopment of the entire wharf area, the yacht club, the completion of the 
flood mitigation program and the new power station. 

Judging from the answers I have received to questions I asked in this house with regard to the new power station, 
it has fallen off the agenda.  The Carnarvon Power Project newsletter number 5 of December 2005, released by 
Western Power, reads - 

This newsletter is to inform you of the Carnarvon Power Project.  The main objective of this project is 
to obtain the best value, technically acceptable project package for a reliable supply of electricity to 
Carnarvon by replacing Western Power’s existing power station in the town. 

The newsletter continues - 
. . . four companies that submitted proposals to Western Power in April 2005. 
The bids were assessed against a wide range of criteria including price, reliability, community benefits, 
risk and the ability to undertake and operate the project (both from a financial and technical 
perspective). 
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The newsletter goes on to say that enGen was the successful bidder, and that it was a reliable company that 
already ran projects in mid-west towns and Leonora in the goldfields.  The newsletter continues - 

Currently, enGen is constructing new power stations in five more remote towns in the Goldfields, 
Gascoyne and Pilbara regions of the state to supply Western Power. 

The newsletter even went on to say what form the power would take.  Carnarvon enjoys a natural gas pipeline.  
Many towns would - I should not say “kill” - dearly love to have that supply of natural gas delivered right to its 
doorstep.  On 22 March, I asked the following question without notice of the Leader of the House representing 
the Minister for Energy - 

(1) Was construction of the new Carnarvon power station commenced in October 2006 as 
indicated in the December 2005 Power Project newsletter, and if not, why not? 

(2) What is the proposed completion date for the new Carnarvon power station? 

I received the answers - 

(1) No. 

. . .  

Horizon Power is currently reviewing the most appropriate and cost-effective method of 
maintaining long-term power supplies in Carnarvon with a view to determining the definitive 
course of action in mid-2007. 

The budget is being delivered today and I look forward to that because I am sure, as Hon Ken Travers said 
earlier, it will be a hard day when so much is expected from the budget this afternoon.  I am sure that the power 
station will probably be covered by the budget.   

I was in Broome the other day when the local power company gave a presentation.  The coalition government 
started the project I refer to; it is a good initiative.  A small liquefied natural gas plant is to be established at the 
Maitland industrial estate near Karratha.  This will allow liquefied natural gas to be carted from Dampier and 
Karratha through to Broome and the Kimberley to provide power.  This will be the first LNG supply to be 
trucked and made available to what can be referred to as small users in Western Australia.  Another plant is to be 
constructed by Kleenheat Gas at Kwinana.  Gas from the Maitland plant will be trucked by road train; a road 
train will arrive in Broome every 18 hours with LNG on board.  How privileged is Carnarvon to have a gas 
pipeline going straight into the town?  Nevertheless, there is a delay in deciding what type of power plant is to be 
installed, just because of the change from Western Power to Horizon Power.  That does not mean that the people 
of Carnarvon do not still need a reliable source of power.  I find this delay quite abhorrent.  I can only imagine 
that the real cause of the delay is that Horizon Power is trying to cut some costs.  The gas power supplied to 
Exmouth is, of course, coming out of a pipeline, but they have to cart it in as well.  That is CNG, which is 
actually compressed natural gas, rather than LNG.  I guess that when the LNG plant is developed at the Maitland 
estate, they will perhaps swap to LNG and cart it in directly as well.  That is one of the power issues that has 
been pushed aside.  It is quite amazing that that electorate has been sidelined.   

The courthouse and police station are very important.  Carnarvon wanted it to be situated opposite the Aboriginal 
Heritage and Cultural Centre.  It was formerly known as the Piyarli Yardi Aboriginal Heritage and Cultural 
Centre, but I believe it is now known by a new name.  The minister could certainly interject and tell me the new 
name.  I think it is the cultural centre.  A committee has been set up to oversee a $4.7 million project, and I 
believe it will now be some two years before it is fully functional.  The preferred site was to fit in with that, so 
that it would be at the main entrance to the town.  I think the town of Carnarvon would have been very proud to 
have a new courthouse and police station across the road from the cultural centre, at the main entrance to the 
town. 

Another issue has developed, and, once again, it concerns the Shires of Carnarvon and Exmouth.  It certainly 
concerns the Shire of Carnarvon, because it falls within that shire.  The shire pleaded with the Minister for 
Planning and Infrastructure not to build the boat ramp approximately one kilometre south of Coral Bay.  On 
7 April I happened to make a trip through the north, as one does, to revise and to look at what is happening.  I 
had heard so much about this boat ramp that I thought I would go and have a look at it for myself.  I must admit, 
given all that has happened in Coral Bay, with all the protection concerns, the “Save Ningaloo Reef” campaign 
and the hoo-ha against the building of the proposed resort at Mauds Landing, I was absolutely amazed to see 
what was actually happening there.  I was amazed that the government could sign off on pushing rubble into the 
ocean in a marine park.  I met with several of the people there and many of them said that they were wrong about 
the proposed resort at Mauds Landing; it should have been built.  These are residents who have lived there for 
some time, and for them to reach this stage is significant, bearing in mind how strong their views were against 
the Mauds Landing project. 
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The intrusion into the water is to be 100 to 150 metres long and will have a two-lane launching ramp.  It had to 
be built out of rubble and, unbelievably, that rubble was extracted from the local rubbish tip.  The Carnarvon 
shire was against this project and had told the minister exactly that, and that the chosen location was not where 
the launching ramp should go.  The council was obviously approached with a request to take the rock out of the 
local rubbish tip.  Of course, this would leave a nice big hole for the Shire of Carnarvon to put in more rubbish.  
That would have been fantastic, and I can understand the shire supporting it.  However, the contractor doing the 
job actually dug up buried rubbish to dig the rock from underneath.  There was no screening or anything else.  I 
stood there and witnessed the dumping of rubbish and the extraction of rock occurring at the same time.  By this 
time, the Department of Environment and Conservation had announced that it had halted the dumping of the 
rock into the ocean.  That had been the case for three days by the time I got there.  The problem was that rubbish 
was mixed in with the rock.  Many photographs were taken showing rubbish floating in the water, and these 
photographs are readily available.  The local residents of Coral Bay went out and scooped up the rubbish with 
scoop nets.  I was quite disgusted, and I said so on the Stateline program that night.  By coincidence, the program 
was being filmed on the day that I was there, so I did an interview.   

The Northern Guardian of 21 February published an article headed “Paradise Lost”.  A picture accompanying 
the article shows all the people there with their thumbs down, showing their feelings about the positioning of the 
boat ramp.  The article reads - 

Coral Bay residents turned out in force last Sunday to protest against the new $7m boat launching 
facility being built off Paradise Beach, north of Monck Head. 

Group spokesman Brent Baker said that the Department of Planning and Infrastructure (DPI) had 
ignored community concerns about the site, the scale and structure of the project. 

Mr Baker, a visitor to Coral Bay for 31 years, said he campaigned against the Maud’s Landing resort 
and marina development in 2002 on environmental grounds.  

He was one of the gentlemen who said to me that he had made a mistake in opposing that development.  The 
article continues - 

“However, like most of us, I would rather have Maud’s Landing than this monstrosity at Paradise 
Beach,” he said. “The environmental impacts here far outweigh any Maud’s might have had.” 

Planning Minister Alannah MacTiernan said she spent an enormous amount of time on Coral Bay. 

“We have spent six years paying heed to the concerns,” she said.  “Having exhausted all options, it is 
time to make a decision,” she said. 

Shire of Carnarvon President Dudley Maslen said the Shire withdrew from consultation with DPI 
because the locals on the Shire were not in favour of the site. 
“This goes back to the Maud’s Landing fiasco,” Mr Maslen said.  “The government couldn’t ignore 
those protestors, so now we’ve got all this development going in on top of Coral Bay. 
The 5000m2 recreational boating facility is being built 1.5km south of Bills Bay within sensitive coral 
areas on the Ningaloo reef.  
Mr Baker said bowser fuel spills would head north with the current straight through the coral. 
“At Maud’s Landing it would dissipate into an open body of water.” 

In fact, if the Mauds Landing development had actually been built, filling the fuel tanks would have been done 
inside the boat harbour, and if a spill occurred, the entrance to the harbour could have been blocked to contain 
the spill and deal with it.  This would have contributed to the security of the environment for the future in such a 
magnificently beautiful area.  The article continues - 

He said an alternative had to be found to the current practice of launching boats straight off the beach at 
Bills Bay.   
“But we are getting our launch facility built here, rather than at the more practical site further north near 
Maud’s Landing, because Maud’s Landing is a political hot potato.” 
“The new facility will be located closer to the south passage through the reef, the treacherous Yolabia 
Passage.  
“This will tempt boaters to navigate a notoriously dangerous area of water to get past the reef,” he said. 
Cardabia Passage to the north is a safe, deep water passage. 
Mr Maslen said the site presented a hazard to boaters. 

“It is an unforgiving peice of coast,” he said.  “Why take boaters out of Bills Bay and put them in a 
more dangerous position?”  
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Coral Bay Adventures General Manager Doug Hunt came to Coral Bay in 1967 and has taken tourists 
to view coral and swim with manta rays and whale sharks for 14 years. 

He said a boat launching facility north of Bills Bay made more sense. 

“Deeper draft vessels will be unable to access the facility on a regular basis due to the shallow water 
and corals,” he said. 

“We will still have to ferry passengers out to our boat in dinghies.” 

Mr Hunt said he also had concerns about the additional number of boats going into such a small area. 

Coral Bay PhD student Frazer McGregor has lived in Coral Bay for six years 

He said he was concerned about the turbid plume that would be generated during construction. 

“Coral was killed off here in 1989 and 2002 by an anoxic event,” he said.  “It’s just coming back, and 
they’re going to put tonnes of dirt into the water.” 

He said he would independently monitor the coral throughout the construction process. 

Ms MacTiernan said none of the solutions were without their problems. 

“We can’t make North Bills Bay environmentally acceptable,” she said.  “At one level I would have 
preferred to see the facility at North Bills Bay, and it would have been much easier to build there. 

“The EPA looked at both sites, and said North Bills Bay was unequivocally out of the question.” 

Ms MacTiernan said the Government had made a commitment to the people about Maud’s Landing. 

That commitment was to not go ahead, even though it may affect the environment in the future.  The article 
continues - 

“The chances of getting anything at Maud’s Landing are very limited,” she said. 

“Something has to be done to take the pressure off the Coral Bay beach, and resolve the conflict there 
between people and boating. 

“We have got to do something to make Coral Bay a better place and make it work, it’s a fabulous 
place,” she said.  “There is only one option left and we are going to get on with it. 

“Once this is built, people will use it.” 

Mr Baker said DPI agreed to a proposal by the Coral Bay Progress Association that the launching island 
would be linked to the shore by a piled jetty. 

DPI recently told residents their preferred piled structure would be built at Stage Two, when funds 
become available.  Stage One would be a rubble causeway.  

“Unless we can stop it, dirt will be going into the water on March 7,” Mr Baker said.  

The temporary causeway is made of tonnes and tonnes of rock.  I cannot see anyone digging it up later to put 
pylons in.  The Coral Bay boating facility concept design sketch plan has the audacity to show this as a 
temporary causeway.  I find that quite amazing.  It is a two-lane causeway, I might add, and everyone will know 
how much would be needed on either side as a buffer to stop the ocean from washing away the road.  It will also 
be of some significant height.  I do not see anything temporary about that.   

When I was in Carnarvon, I saw a fellow filming the boats launching in Carnarvon, and how long they took.  He 
had worked out, on the basis of the number of boats that would be using the facility in Coral Bay and the time it 
took to launch each boat, that there would probably be five hours between the first boat and the last boat going 
out.  I am not sure whether that is correct because I do not know the figures on how many boats are launched, but 
he was adamant that this was the case.  I am sure he will be notifying the appropriate people about that.   

I was also interested to note what I think is called a screen.  It is a floating fence to stop any rubbish floating 
away from the area being worked on.  That was actually broken -   

Hon Vincent Catania:  I was there two weeks ago, and it has now been repaired.  

Hon KEN BASTON:  That is very good.  The power of the press is a marvellous thing!  I am pleased to hear 
that.  I hope they did not make Hon Vince Catania wear a scuba tank and go down and fix it!  

Another issue that affects regional areas is taxi services.  Taxi services in the metropolitan area have been in the 
spotlight for quite some time.  Recently, the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure approved extra funding for 
metropolitan taxi drivers who drive at night.  However, that funding was not extended to country taxi drivers.  
The taxi drivers in Karratha, Port Hedland and Broome are pretty upset about that.  It is difficult enough to get 
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people to drive taxis, but to not give regional taxi drivers the same funding as is given to metropolitan taxi 
drivers is an injustice.   

Debate adjourned, pursuant to standing orders.  

COMMITTEE REPORTS - CONSIDERATION 
Committee  

The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Louise Pratt) in the chair. 

Select Committee on the Adequacy of Foster Care Assessment Procedures by the Department for Community 
Development - Report - Motion 

Resumed from 3 May on the following motion moved by Hon Robyn McSweeney -  

That the report be noted. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Bruce Donaldson. 
Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations - Fourth Report - “Budget Estimates 2005/06” 

Resumed from 29 August 2006. 

Motion 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I move -  

That the report be noted. 

As Chair of the Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations, I would like to say a few words 
about this report.  This is the fourth report of the committee.  The report was tabled in August 2006, which is 
now quite some time ago.  The report is quite small; it comprises only 14 pages in total, including the 
appendices.  The report is a summary of the committee’s consideration of the budget estimates inquiries that the 
committee carried out in the financial year 2005-06. 

The report notes at page 1 -  

1.4 The Committee adopted a Budget Estimates Hearings approach for this task as follows: 

i) hearings held throughout the year (Ongoing Hearings); and 

ii) hearings held soon after the Budget Papers are tabled in the House over one to three 
consecutive days (Annual Hearings).   

1.5 This is a new approach to the scrutiny of the budget estimates in the Council.  In the past 
estimates hearings have been held over three to four days during which Members of the 
Council . . . could ask questions relating to the Budget Papers.  The Committee in 2005 
commenced a program of ongoing estimates hearings through the year which is supplemented 
by a one day session of ‘traditional’ annual estimates hearings . . . . 

1.6 The hearings are intended to provide all Members with the opportunity to question a range of 
government departments and agencies invited to attend for the purpose of examining the 
estimates of expenditure for a given year.   

1.7 The Committee’s approach is aimed at ensuring that the estimates process is effective and 
worthwhile and that Members have adequate time and opportunity to question government 
departments and agencies.   

Members will be aware that the change to this dual approach was the result of a report that was tabled in this 
place.  That report has gone down in history as the Cash report.  I cannot remember its full name.   

In essence, the budget estimates process provides an opportunity for members to examine the budgets of various 
government departments and agencies.  Members had expressed some dissatisfaction with holding just one 
annual estimates hearing immediately after the budget papers had been tabled.  Therefore, the Standing 
Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations has provided the opportunity for ongoing estimates hearings 
throughout the year, in which members are invited and encouraged to ask more probing questions of government 
departments and agencies.  The committee is still trialling this process.  We are about to commence the annual 
hearing process.  That process provides members with the opportunity to make an immediate response to the 
budget papers for this financial year, which will be tabled later today.  The questions and answers that are 
received during the annual hearing process are often very useful in informing members and the committee about 
any ongoing inquiries that we might seek to make throughout the remainder of the year. 

The committee report notes at page 2 that during the committee hearings for the 2005-06 budget, the committee 
heard from the Department of the Legislative Council, the Western Australia Police, the Fire and Emergency 
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Services Authority of Western Australia, the Office of Road Safety, the Disability Services Commission and 
Main Roads Western Australia.  Pages 3, 4 and 5 of the report provide a summary of the key subject areas that 
were dealt with during those hearings.  I will not go through those matters in detail, but the subject areas were 
quite broad and varied.  The transcript of these hearings is a public document and is available on the committee 
website for the public to see. 
At page 5 of the report, the committee made the following comment -  

2.13 The Committee was established to assist in enhancing the financial accountability of 
government departments and agencies to Parliament and the community.  Members have 
expressed dissatisfaction with the estimates process of previous Parliaments -  

Reference is then made to the Cash report that I mentioned earlier; namely, “Reflections on the Legislative 
Council Committee System and its Operations during the Thirty-Sixth Parliament: Discussions with the Chairs 
and Deputy Chairs of Parliamentary Committees”, May 2005.  No wonder I could not remember the full title; it 
is quite lengthy!  The report continues -  

and thus the Committee has adopted a new approach to the examination of the annual 
estimates of expenditure.   

2.14 The Committee was pleased with how the first series of Ongoing Hearings have been 
conducted and with the quality of responses provided.  The Committee is mindful, however, 
that it is a new Committee with new processes and is committed to continually reviewing and 
refining its processes to ensure that an effective and worthwhile estimates process is 
conducted.  

The value and the effectiveness of any estimates hearings are dependent on the level of attention and interest that 
members bring to those hearings, whether they be annual budget hearings or ongoing hearings.  The Estimates 
and Financial Operations Committee can provide an opportunity for members to closely examine the operation 
of departments and agencies.  However, members must engage in that process by researching and submitting the 
questions that they believe are the most important and effective.  I am aware that we are all very busy with other 
parliamentary duties and that there is a fine line between providing a good process and a good opportunity.  
However, it is up to members to fully utilise the estimates opportunity.  Further to the comments that I made 
earlier in the house today, beginning today the committee is seeking members’ views about the departments that 
should be present at the main annual budget hearing, which is only a few weeks away.  It is noteworthy that 
when the committee has made this request in the past, on average about half a dozen members have responded.  
Given that the Legislative Council has just over 30 members, we did not hear from many members.  I encourage 
members to take an interest in the estimates hearings and to indicate which departments and agencies they would 
like to question.  With those comments, I will sit down to, perhaps, stand up again shortly.   

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I commend the committee for what it is trying to do.  I understand that the evolution 
of the process started with the dissatisfaction with the original way that estimates were conducted.  I might 
rephrase that, because I am not so sure that it was dissatisfaction with the way they were conducted; rather, there 
was dissatisfaction because insufficient time was allocated.  The three or four days in one week that were allotted 
to conduct the estimates left us with insufficient time to bring in some of the agencies that members believed 
needed to be scrutinised.  We were not in a position to extend that one week into a second week.  We had to try 
something to overcome those problems, perceived or otherwise.  Certainly this is one way to try to provide for 
the wants and needs of members of this place.  Unfortunately, I am not sure that it has worked.  I think the 
estimates process may require more work.  We must analyse why it did not work in the first place.  If we can 
pinpoint the problem areas and concentrate on those areas, we may find a satisfactory solution.   
Hon Giz Watson has already mentioned that members’ time is taken up with many different things.  If it were 
not for a schedule setting out the times when members have to be in this place, they may well choose to be 
elsewhere.  When Parliament’s sitting schedule is released, I have no doubt that many members do as I do and 
immediately block out those sitting weeks in their diary.  In that way they can put aside any other invitations 
knowing that they have an obligation as elected representatives to be in this chamber during those weeks.  A 
similar thought process took place with estimates.  When the estimates week was announced, I immediately 
blocked out those dates in my diary.  It was much easier when we had to work around fixed dates.  Finding more 
time to query ministers and government agencies about items within the budget was never going to be easy.  
That is pretty obvious now.  I commend the committee for trying to find ways and means around this dilemma.  I 
would dearly love it if we ended back in a situation in which I could put fixed estimates dates in my diary.  
Difficulties may arise if estimates are held on a particular day of a week over any number of weeks, particularly 
if members have decided to do other things during those weeks.  It may be that they have other commitments on 
the day that the agency in which they are interested is called to be examined.   
I am the first to admit that, up until this point, I have not taken enough interest in what the committee has been 
doing with estimates.  However, that will change, because I intend to approach the chair of the committee to gain 
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more information about what it is the committee has proposed to do with this year’s estimates.  I also believe it is 
a particularly important part of the parliamentary process.  It is particularly important that members - whether 
they be government or opposition members - take an interest in the process.  We must provide the opportunity 
for members to be involved.  I was questioned about my thoughts on the matter.  I did not have a workable 
solution.  It seems to me that, as I said before, a little more work is required in this area so that we can provide a 
solution.  Rather than going through a number of scenarios and wasting the time of the chamber, it might be best 
if I conclude my thoughts on this matter now.  However, I suggest to members that it is important that we work 
together to find a workable solution that will bring to account any government by way of the questioning that 
takes place during the budget estimates process.  It is a very important part of our time in Parliament - one that 
should not be ignored.  As Hon Giz Watson said, it is something that must be encouraged.  I will do that as well.  
However, reiterating what I said before about demands on members’ time, budget estimates should be allocated 
to a certain time of the year.  Although it cannot be made obligatory, I strongly encourage members to set aside 
time in their diaries for this very important task.  

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I will respond to a couple of those comments.  I believe Hon Ray Halligan has raised 
some interesting points.  Of course, members of the standing committee are very open to suggestions about how 
we can improve the processes, because, quite frankly, there is not a lot of point having a standing committee 
unless it works for members.  Not only is it beholden on us as members to hold government departments and 
agencies to account, but also it is an important function to represent our constituents and convey community 
questions about these departments. 
I will raise a couple of matters.  The first, just by way of suggesting ways to enhance the opportunities for 
members to participate in the process, is that members are able and encouraged, if they cannot attend a particular 
hearing with a department, to submit questions.  They do not have to be in attendance to do that.  Therefore, 
members could, at the very least, see it as an extended question time during which they can focus on a particular 
department or on a part of the operation of a department.  The committee is more than enthusiastic to receive 
questions on notice, as it were, that can then be directed to those departments and agencies when we call them in. 
Secondly, we have deliberately chosen to meet on a Monday, because we are aware that most members have 
commitments on sitting Wednesdays with other standing committees of which they are members.  Therefore, 
members of this standing committee have heroically also put aside Monday afternoons in sitting weeks to deal 
with these ongoing hearings.  I realise that probably for country members this will not be terribly helpful, but it 
makes the hearings slightly more accessible than if we had them on a Wednesday, which is normally when 
standing committees meet. 
The other thing that comes to my mind is that it is essential for and beholden on the standing committee to 
provide members with early notice of the program for the departments and agencies that will come in.  If 
members can put the dates in their diaries, as Hon Ray Halligan suggested, for the next six months, or for the 
next 12 months even, they can then say that they know they will have to put aside a Monday in a couple of 
months to deal with the Water Corporation or whichever department it may be that they have a particular interest 
in. 
The final point I make is that I was reminded when I attended the Australasian Council of Public Accounts 
Committees biennial conference that was held in Canberra recently - at that conference, accountability 
committees from all Australasian Parliaments gather together and discuss the challenges of holding agencies and 
departments accountable - that this standing committee of the Legislative Council is very unusual in that, of all 
the committees that fit into the category of being a public accountability committee of an Australasian 
Parliament, only a handful are not government dominated.  It could be argued that the fact that we have a 
standing committee that has a non-government majority - it is in the standing orders that, regardless of who the 
government of the day is, the majority will be non-government members - gives us an additional advantage 
politically and an incentive to not curtail our questioning because we might be concerned about the view of the 
executive.  Therefore, we have an additional advantage in that this standing committee has a non-government 
majority.  I suggest, therefore, that it has the capacity to be very decisive in its line of questioning and 
courageous in tackling difficult questions of the day regarding finance and budget operations. 
For those reasons, I can only encourage members to use this standing committee to that end, if they have the 
capacity to do that.  If it does not work, of course we can always review the operations again and, arguably, 
revert to the model we had before, which was a week of estimates hearings following the annual budget.  I have 
also heard that members found that frustrating too, so it is six of one and half a dozen of the other.  I thank Hon 
Ray Halligan for his feedback, because it is very useful for us to know, as a committee, whether we are meeting 
the requirements of members.  I will be more than happy to discuss it further, if that is suitable. 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I thank Hon Giz Watson for that explanation.  I hear what she says about sending in 
questions.  She can be assured that the greater number of members will, having gone through the budget papers, 
develop any number of questions and send them in via the committee or they will bypass the committee.  They 
have the option.  Of course, the beauty of being at the estimates hearings is that a member is able to ask follow-
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up questions.  Questions on notice are very good when a member wants detailed answers, but I think it is also 
particularly important for a member to be in a position in which, having received a response, he can identify 
where additional information may be required.  We can save an enormous amount of time in that way.  I believe 
that is very important. 

As I said before, I will not go into too much detail now about what I believe could or should be done, to my way 
of thinking.  However, I will certainly take up Hon Giz Watson’s offer and talk about the issues, certainly from 
my point of view, that might be in the best interests of the chamber in undertaking this very important role that 
we have. 

Question put and passed. 
Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations - Fifth Report - “Hearings in Relation to Budget 

Estimates 2006/07” 

Resumed from 29 August 2006. 

Motion 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I move - 

That the report be noted. 

I will be brief, because I believe we have covered a bit of ground in terms of some general comments about the 
committee.  This report deals with the annual budget estimates hearings for the 2006-07 budget.  It is also a 
fairly slim volume of 16 pages.  However, I think it is worth pointing out some of the comments that the standing 
committee made about the annual hearings.  On page 2 of the report, the committee states - 

The Annual Hearings aid the Committee in identifying issues for further inquiry during its Ongoing 
Hearings.  The hearings also provide Members with the opportunity to ask questions on the Budget at a 
time when it is most relevant, that is before the Appropriation Bills are passed. 

That is why I for one think it is essential that we do not lose the opportunity to have an annual hearing because of 
the timeliness and because, at least theoretically, there is the possibility that if members are not happy with the 
answers they received in budget estimates, they could decline to pass the appropriation bills.  I do not think that 
is likely to happen, but at least theoretically that is why the Parliament is given the opportunity to understand the 
budget estimates before we are required to vote on the appropriation bills, as we should.  Basically, it is a 
detailed scrutiny of those appropriations that we carry out in that annual hearing. 

The annual hearings are, of necessity, constrained.  There might be one day, there might be three days or there 
might be five days.  However, what I hope also occurs in that process is that if lines of inquiry are exposed by 
the intensive questioning of the budget, there is the opportunity for members to then go away and say, “We now 
want to see that particular section of that department because we have a lot more questions that have come up 
out of the inquiries during the annual hearings.”  The report goes on to say - 

In 2006 the Committee resolved that during the Annual Hearings questions must relate to the 2006/07 
Budget Papers only, due to the limited time and purpose it had allocated to the hearings. 

That was a request to limit the line of questioning.  It continues further - 

The briefing also provided the opportunity for Members to ask questions relating to the estimates 
hearings and to the Committee’s role generally.  

The report is referring to the fact that I took the opportunity to brief members regarding the processes and in that 
briefing I provided the opportunity for members to ask questions related to the estimates hearing and the 
committee’s role in general.  Under the heading “Annual Hearings”, the report states - 

To assist the Committee in determining which agencies to examine, the Committee surveyed all 
Members.  Forms were distributed to Members asking them to nominate the agencies they would like to 
appear.  

That is the process that has been employed for a long time in the council; certainly since I have been here.  It is 
clearly a way to ensure that, out of the range of agencies, members get an opportunity to request which ones they 
want to at least prioritise.  We do not always get the ones we request.  The job of the Standing Committee on 
Estimates and Financial Operations is to take that feedback and determine which agencies should be nominated.  
The report continues regarding the 2006-07 budget estimates hearing - 

The Committee received six responses nominating 16 different agencies to appear.  Of these, 
12 agencies were included in the Committee’s program for its Annual Hearings.  

It is interesting that, of the 30 members of the Legislative Council, we heard from only six.  That does not mean 
that other members were not interested.  It might mean that perhaps the opposition focused its input through a 
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few members, and that is understandable.  Members have portfolio interests and some are more interested in 
financial matters than other matters.  However, ideally, we would like a more representative response from 
members.  It is also interesting to note that, of the 16 agencies that were sought, we were able to have 
representatives provided from 12 agencies.  Perhaps the time for each agency was fairly limited, but I believe we 
tried to provide at least an hour for the smaller agencies and a couple of hours for those of which we anticipated 
a big range of questions would be asked.  The report continues -  

We also sought to give priority to portfolios of ministers in the council.  

Given a certain number of ministers are members of the Legislative Council, we should ensure that members, 
particularly members of the opposition, have an opportunity to question ministers directly.  The Assembly 
estimates hearings ensure that agencies represented by certain ministers attend so that the opposition has an 
opportunity to address those ministers directly rather than via a parliamentary secretary.  One’s expectation is 
that the minister would be much more able to answer a broad range of questions than would the parliamentary 
secretary.  The report continues - 

The Annual Hearings were held on 14 June 2006.  

As I say, the committee heard from 12 departments: the Department of Education and Training, the Country 
High School Hostels Authority, the Curriculum Council of Western Australia, the Department of Education 
Services, the Department of Environment and Conservation, the Department of Local Government and Regional 
Development, the Department of Health, the Department of Agriculture and Food, the Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet, the Department of Water, the Department for Planning and Infrastructure, the Public 
Transport Authority, the Disability Services Commission and the Department for Community Development.  It 
was quite a broad range.   

The report summarises some of the subject matter of key areas of questioning, but I will not go through them.  
Again, as expected, there was a broad range of interest in those particular departments and commissions.  I 
highlight the committee’s comments at the end of the report on page 7, as follows - 

The Committee notes that in the instances that questions could not be answered at the hearing, the 
questions were taken on notice and comprehensive answers provided.  

I believe they were provided in a timely fashion.  It continues - 

The Committee acknowledges that there was some confusion about the scope of questions that could be 
asked and will endeavour to ensure that the program for future Annual Hearings will clearly identify 
which agencies and which parts of agencies are to be examined.  

If members are not sure of what they are being asked about nominating agencies or parts of agencies, please ask 
me as chair of the committee, or any other member of the committee, for clarification and we will provide that 
information.  That was a source of some frustration in the last annual estimates hearings.  The report continues - 

The Committee will also ensure that it asks Members, prior to the Annual Hearings, to specify the areas 
of the budget that they wish to focus on in order to ensure that the relevant departmental staff attend.  

We are doing that for this year’s budget.  It continues - 

The Committee has adopted a new estimates process . . . in response to dissatisfaction expressed by 
Members with the estimates process of previous Parliaments.  As noted in the Cash Report, the process 
afforded by the Estimates Committee of the Thirty-Sixth Parliament was seen “as a cumbersome and 
time-consuming procedure in which numerous questions were raised during a few days of hearings, 
Members could not address departmental officials directly and detailed questions and lines of inquiry 
were unable to be satisfactorily pursued”. 

Obviously, members are at liberty to ask whatever questions they wish as long as they comply with the normal 
parameters of questioning.  If there are questions that tend to probe deeply into areas, it might be worth stating 
on members’ response sheets that they want to attend an ongoing hearing at which we could spend two or three 
hours on matters.  That was the difference we were seeking to offer members.  In other words, if they want to 
drill down into an issue, they might like to do it in one of the ongoing hearings throughout the year.  The 
committee makes further comment as follows - 

The Committee draws Members attention to its Ongoing Hearings program of regular estimates 
hearings held throughout the year.  The hearings are held on a Monday of a sitting week in order to 
facilitate the attendance of all Members.  These hearings will provide Members the opportunity to 
pursue detailed lines of inquiry with a particular agency.  

We will continue to respond to members’ interests and requirements for opportunities to question departments 
and agencies.  We also encourage members to provide whatever feedback they would like to me as chair or other 
members of the committee and we will attempt to accommodate those requests. 
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Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Hon Giz Watson has brought to our attention a number of issues, but not necessarily 
new ones; they have been around for some considerable time.  It appears that they will continue into the future, 
unless ministers and parliamentary secretaries accept the spirit of what is required.  By “spirit of what is 
required”, I am referring to them answering questions in any form they see fit.  As with all answers to questions, 
we may not necessarily like what we hear; however, it is the prerogative of ministers or the parliamentary 
secretaries of the government, generally, to provide those answers in a manner that they deem to be appropriate.  
All we can ask - I believe it is all that we have ever asked - is that those answers be somewhat concise, rather 
than longwinded, as so many of them have been.  I can remember estimates from some years ago when we 
received what can be termed only as ministerial statements that went on for some considerable time.  They did 
not provide an answer to a question but only reasoning for the policy being pursued, which was often totally 
unrelated to the question.  We will continually have the problems spelled out in this report unless we have 
ministers - of any political persuasion - who will accept their roles in the manner that the majority of members in 
this chamber and Parliament generally expect of them.  Hopefully, that will provide the satisfaction required by 
members on this side of the chamber - the opposition - as well as that of ministers and the government generally. 

As with most things, whether it is question time, estimates or questions on notice, the process can end up as a 
complete and utter farce.  I do not think that it would be using words that are too strong to say that in the past we 
have had instances in which part of the estimates hearings have been a farce because there was no willingness to 
work with members of the opposition in providing a reasonable answer to a reasonable question.  The problem 
was there previously, and it appears to remain today.  One would hope that it will not continue into the future if 
the ministers of the government of the day do the right thing by members on the opposition side. 

Question put and passed. 
Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission - Eleventh Report - “Public Hearing 

Examining Outreach Programmes of the Corruption and Crime Commission” 

Resumed from 31 August 2006.   

Motion 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I move - 

That the report be noted. 

The eleventh report of the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission is titled “Public 
Hearing Examining Outreach Programmes of the Corruption and Crime Commission”.  Members may or may 
not be aware that it is a role of the Corruption and Crime Commission to travel around the state and talk to 
government agencies and employees within those agencies explaining the commission’s role and what is 
expected of the public servants in those agencies as far as misconduct and serious misconduct are concerned. 
The joint standing committee decided to test whether the commission was doing what the act expected of it.  It 
therefore went to Geraldton and held a public hearing on 29 May 2006, which is nearly 12 months ago.  There 
were not a great number of people at the public hearing.  We checked to make sure that the meeting was 
advertised in an appropriate manner.  As one might expect - and one might hope - there were not too many 
people, whether in Geraldton or anywhere else, who had very grave concerns about government agencies and 
whether there was misconduct, serious misconduct or corruption in them. 
The public hearing provided the committee - and members if they have read the report - with some interesting 
information.  Some of that information can be gleaned from the transcript of the public hearing, which is part of 
the report.  There was a certain expectation on the part of one of the witnesses, Mr Barker, which, I would 
suggest to members, was a reasonable expectation.  Mr Barker was able to go away somewhat satisfied with the 
opportunity that was presented to him by the committee; that is, the committee having gone to Geraldton rather 
than Mr Barker having to come down to Perth.  The second witness, Mr Sharp, had a somewhat different 
expectation.  I admit that I, and I believe the chairman - this is borne out by the transcript - had a few problems 
in eliciting exactly what it was that Mr Sharp was looking for.  We ended up with a fair idea of what he wanted 
as an end result, but exactly how he was going to achieve that and what expectations he had of the Corruption 
and Crime Commission and the joint standing committee provided us with some difficulty in trying to extract 
information from him. 
During my time on the committee, I have found that many people who go to the commission with concerns or 
complaints often have expectations that are unable to be realised.  They believe that the Corruption and Crime 
Commission is another form of police service; in fact, a form of police service that is over and above the WA 
Police.  We explain to these people what the roles of the commission, the parliamentary inspector and the joint 
standing committee are.  We believe we have been able to do that in a manner that any reasonable person could 
understand.  Quite often, individuals with these complaints will continually come back, ignore what has been 
explained to them, and bring to the committee’s attention concerns over which the committee has absolutely no 
control.  The commission has a very important role in the outreach program of trying to explain to as many 
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people as possible, whether public servants, government agencies or the public generally, either in person or 
through a website, exactly what its role is and exactly what it is that it can do for people with myriad concerns.  
Any number of those concerns do not come under the heading of misconduct, serious misconduct or corruption.  
For some reason, any number of people seem to believe that the commission is the panacea for all the ills that 
they can see around them - all the ills they believe they are involved in.   

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again, pursuant to standing orders. 
Sitting suspended from 1.00 to 2.00 pm 

ESTIMATES OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE 
Tabling of Budget Papers 

Hon Kate Doust (Parliamentary Secretary) tabled the budget papers. 

[See papers 2699A-H.] 

Consideration of Tabled Papers 

HON KATE DOUST (South Metropolitan - Parliamentary Secretary) [2.00 pm] without notice:  I move - 

That pursuant to standing order 49(1)(c), the Legislative Council take note of tabled paper 2699A-H 
(2007-08 budget papers), laid upon the table of the house on 10 May 2007. 

This motion enables the Legislative Council to examine and debate the budget papers associated with the 
Appropriation Bills, which are now before the Legislative Assembly. 

[The parliamentary secretary read the following speech.] 

The 2007-08 Budget is about making Decisions for Our Future. 

INTRODUCTION  
Mr President, 

Western Australia is thriving. 

It is the envy of every other and with good reason.  We have the nation’s: 

•  lowest unemployment; 
•  highest business confidence levels; and  
•  fastest growth in retail sales. 

Our State generates more than a third of the nation’s total exports. 

These are remarkable achievements in which all Western Australians can take pride.  

These are their achievements.  These are the results of their hard work. 

Our State’s economy has stepped up to a new level - a level we have never seen before. 

Following expected growth of 6 per cent for the current year, the economy is forecast to grow by 
4.5 per cent in 2007-08 and a further 5 per cent in 2008-09.   

This will make eight consecutive years of growth above 4 per cent under Labor. 

There has been a cumulative expansion in the Western Australian economy of a staggering 39 per cent 
in real terms from 2000-01 to the end of the current financial year. 

But these bold economic achievements bring with them responsibility, a responsibility to deliver a 
budget that has a vision for all Western Australians. 

The Government is proud to bring down its seventh budget, mindful of today as well as tomorrow.  A 
budget that makes decisions for our future. 

The Government is turning today’s prosperity into a sustainable future for all Western Australians.  

Seven straight years of sound financial management by the Government has allowed public sector net 
debt to be slashed to record levels, resulting in a net debt-free general government sector. 

That same sound financial management now enables the Government to: 

•  offer a tax relief package worth a massive $2.1 billion over the next four years that includes the 
nation’s most generous cuts to stamp duty for first home buyers; 

•  undertake a record Capital Works Program of $5.8 billion with an estimated $21.6 billion to be 
spent over the next four years; and 
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•  use the 2006-07 cash surplus to invest $1.09 billion in a special future fund to pay for the new 
Fiona Stanley Hospital in Perth’s southern suburbs. 

As the House will recall, last year the Government funded the Perth to Mandurah railway line, paid for 
in full with the budget surplus. 

This funding for a new state-of-the art hospital means the Government will have fully paid for the two 
biggest public sector capital works projects ever undertaken in Western Australia. 

What is more, it will have funded these two major projects without the need for borrowings and with no 
debt servicing costs into the future.  

That is, the new Fiona Stanley Hospital will be built debt-free.  

Our outstanding growth has underpinned the State’s finances, with a general government operating 
surplus of $1,453 million forecast for 2007-08, following an estimated surplus of $1,853 million in 
2006-07. 

This allows the Government to make decisions for our future. 

Decisions that deliver tax cuts totalling $5.8 billion over the coming budget forward estimates period. 

Decisions that will now free almost 90 per cent of first home buyers from stamp duty entirely. 

Decisions that have injected substantial new funding to address key areas such as housing affordability, 
health care, climate change, child protection, training, licensing and policing. 

DEBT MANAGEMENT 
In last year’s budget, the Treasurer announced that the 2005-06 cash surplus would be used to pay off 
all debt for the New MetroRail project.  
This was done in September 2006, leaving this $1.6 billion public transport project completely debt-
free. 
This year, the Government will dedicate the 2006-07 cash surplus to build the Fiona Stanley Hospital.   
This budget appropriates the estimated cost of the hospital - $1.09 billion - into a special purpose 
account to be called the Fiona Stanley Hospital Construction Account. 
This account will be established (and protected) by legislation, for the sole purpose of funding the 
construction and development of the Fiona Stanley Hospital. 
A lasting legacy for Western Australians.  

TAX RELIEF 
Public sector surpluses are not only being put to work to minimise debt.  The Government is continuing 
to reform and reduce State taxes in a responsible and sustainable manner. 
Last year, the Government announced that the outcome of Stage 1 of the State Tax Review would 
include the abolition of three more taxes - stamp duties on mortgages, the hire of goods and non-real 
business property transactions. 
This brings to 11 the total number of State taxes abolished since 2001. 
Again in this year’s budget, the Government is adding to the dividend to the Western Australian 
community by cutting taxes by $2.1 billion over the next four years.  
This will ensure Western Australia’s tax system remains competitive with other States without 
compromising the service delivery or the infrastructure demanded by our flourishing economy. 
After further community consultation, the State Tax Review has highlighted that stamp duty on 
property transactions for first home buyers is a high priority for reform given rapidly escalating house 
prices. 
The Government is pleased to announce that as from today, it will free almost 90 per cent of first home 
buyers from stamp duty entirely. 
The exemption threshold for first home buyers will be doubled to $500,000, with a partial exemption 
applying for first home purchases up to $600,000.   
First home buyers in Western Australia will now benefit from the most generous concessions in the 
nation.   
Moving to the most generous first home buyer concessions in Australia will result in savings of up to 
$20,700 for home buyers.  The estimated cost of the changes is $80 million in 2007-08, and 
$350 million over the next four years.   
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The Government is also reforming the land tax scale in order to reduce bracket creep and the tax rate 
penalty suffered by certain land owners. 

At the lower land value ranges, the land tax exemption threshold will increase $100,000 to $250,000.  

In the mid and upper land value ranges, effective tax rates will be cut substantially.  

These land tax cuts should assist in relieving some of the upward pressure on rents, including rents for 
small businesses, in Western Australia.  

Owners of lower valued land in Perth will also benefit from a change in the way the Metropolitan 
Region Improvement Tax is imposed.  No Metropolitan Region Improvement Tax will be payable on 
the first $250,000 of land value. 

The Government has also heeded community calls through the State Tax Review for a reduction in 
motor vehicle stamp duty.  This will be targeted at mid-priced vehicles for the average family, and will 
be introduced in two stages.  

To begin with, the thresholds above which the current sliding stamp duty rates apply will be increased 
by $5,000 on 1 July 2007.  The thresholds will be increased by a further $5,000 from 1 January 2009, 
resulting in a total saving on the purchase of a new family sedan of around $525. 

The estimated cost of this measure is $27 million in 2007-08 and $197 million over the next four years. 

In addition, and as a boost for the domestic tourism industry, the Government will exempt caravans and 
camper trailers from stamp duty. 
The tax measures in this budget - the most generous first home buyer stamp duty concessions in the 
nation, substantial land tax reform and reduced motor vehicle stamp duty - clearly demonstrate this 
Government’s continued commitment to reforming the State’s tax system. 

CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM 
In addition to providing massive tax relief, the Government is aware that it must continue to invest in 
necessary infrastructure to meet the growing demands of our economy. 
In 2007-08, the Government plans to invest a record $5.8 billion to provide critical infrastructure to 
ensure that Western Australia continues to grow and meet the capacity demands of next year and 
beyond.  Over the next four years, the Government’s Capital Works Program is an unprecedented 
$21.6 billion.  
In 2007-08, the Government will invest: 

•  $897 million on the State’s electricity infrastructure to improve the safety and reliability of 
electricity generation, transmission and distribution, and meet the needs of the State’s fast growing 
economy; 

•  $766 million on water, wastewater and drainage infrastructure, the investigation of alternative 
water sources, and the continuation of ongoing programs such as Infill Sewerage; 

•  $706 million to expand, maintain and improve our road network, with major projects including the 
New Perth to Bunbury Highway and the Mitchell Freeway extension from Hodges Drive to Burns 
Beach Road; 

•  $220 million on police, prison and other law and order-related projects; and 

•  $99 million on upgrades and improvements to the State’s port facilities, further enhancing the 
State’s export capacity. 

On a comparable basis, and using the latest available estimates, Western Australia’s direct spend on 
infrastructure assets in 2007-08 is around 35 per cent per capita more than the average of the other 
mainland States. 
The forward estimates also include a $750 million provision to develop one or more new water sources.  
While the desalination plant at Kwinana now provides 17 per cent of our water supply each year, it is 
clear that with our drying climate and fast growing population, Western Australia will need additional 
water sources in the not too distant future. 
While the Government is carefully considering all options for new water sources, the Government has 
prudently made provision for the inevitable in this budget to secure Western Australia’s future water 
needs. 
The State’s Capital Works Program is huge and, to ensure it is delivered on time, it must be reviewed 
periodically.  The Government recently undertook a strategic review of the capital program.   
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The review identified a number of projects where the expected timeframes were not realistic in the 
current market.  Accordingly, the schedule for some works has been revised by 6 to12 months.   

The Government has also adopted a two-stage approval process which allows planning, environmental 
and other approvals to be secured before proceeding with construction.  This will provide more reliable 
information on project costs and timelines.  A project that will adopt this approach is the Member’s 
Equity Stadium redevelopment.  

Going forward, the Government will continue to review and reprioritise the capital program as 
necessary, to ensure that timeframes are realistic and project costs are contained. 

The Government needs to ensure taxpayers get maximum value for each dollar.  To assist in this, a 
Works Centre of Expertise will be established to improve collaboration and coordination across ‘works’ 
procurement agencies. 

The benefits of reform through the Works Centre of Expertise will primarily be cost minimisation 
through a focus on better planning and project management, with benefits accruing from improved 
project definition, better costing and budgeting, less scope creep, and greater certainty in project 
timetables. 
FAMILIES 
In addition to the tax relief measures outlined earlier, the Government will continue to assist Western 
Australian families by keeping increases in key State ‘government’ tariffs, fees and charges below 
inflation. 
Annual spending by a ‘representative household’ on the basket of State government goods and services 
will increase by $133.65, or 3.95 per cent.  Included in these figures is a $27.30 (or 8.07 per cent) 
increase in water charges for the average household.  This increase, based on recommendations from 
the Economic Regulation Authority, reflects the increased costs incurred in providing water, and will 
ensure that appropriate price signals are sent to consumers for this scarce resource. 
These decisions follow the freeze in key household charges in 2004-05 and the decision to remove, 
reduce or freeze a number of tariffs, fees and charges in 2005-06.  In seven years, Labor has reduced 
key household fees and charges for a representative household by $413 (or 10.8 per cent) in real 
(inflation-adjusted) terms. 
PRIORITY SPENDING INITIATIVES 
Reducing taxes and government debt, expanding infrastructure, and holding fee and charge increases 
below inflation all need to be weighed up against the provision of quality services demanded by our 
rapidly expanding population.  The 2007-08 Budget strikes an appropriate balance and addresses many 
important issues across the range of public services provided to the Western Australian community.  I 
will now outline just some of the key initiatives included in this budget.   
Housing Affordability 
Earlier, I referred to the introduction of the most generous tax concessions for first home buyers in the 
nation.  This is one key element of the Government’s response to housing affordability issues. 
The Government is also injecting $417 million for social, affordable and indigenous housing over the 
next four years.  This will ensure the continuation of Western Australia’s affordable housing programs 
through the sustained delivery of a combination of public and community housing, as part of an 
integrated social housing system. 
Of this funding, $376 million will go towards the delivery of almost 3,700 new public and community 
housing units over the next four years.  A further $35 million will provide a range of immediate and 
medium term actions for Aboriginal Town Based Communities. 
The package also includes $5.7 million in 2007-08 to facilitate expansion of the Bond Assistance 
Scheme through an increased bond loan limit, along with income eligibility limits set above social 
housing eligibility.  This will result in more families and singles being assisted with entry costs into 
private rental accommodation.  The land tax changes will also assist in this regard. 
At the same time, and to improve land supply in the State, the budget commits $21.1 million over 
four years to deliver the electronic Land Development Program.  This program will provide a more 
streamlined, transparent and efficient subdivision approval management system and will allow 
developers to apply online for approvals - 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
Quality Health Care 
Ensuring Western Australia continues to have among the best quality health care in the nation, the 
budget spends $4 billion in 2007-08 to deliver health services across the State - a 5.4 per cent increase 
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on 2006-07.  The focus will be the ongoing implementation of the Health Reform Committee’s 
recommendations. 
Key initiatives include an increased focus on non-hospital and community based care to avoid 
unnecessary hospital admissions, and improved access to quality health services through effective 
outpatient and elective surgery reforms. 
The number of people on the elective surgery waiting list was at a record low at 31 March 2007.  This 
reflects recent initiatives such as the establishment of surgi-centres at Kaleeya and Osborne Park 
Hospitals and a joint initiative with the Australian Government to enable some public patients to 
appropriately receive treatment as private patients at no cost to themselves. 
The Government’s investment in health care covers not just physical health, but mental health.  Almost 
one in five Western Australians will have a diagnosed mental health disorder during their lives. 
The Government will spend $237 million over the forward estimates on furthering Mental Health 
Strategy initiatives.  This funding will increase access to appropriate adult inpatient services, including 
extra beds in Bunbury and Joondalup.  It will also increase access to a range of community-based 
services and alternatives to prevent the need for hospital admission. 
In 2007-08, the Government will spend $324 million on health infrastructure.  This is almost double the 
expenditure in 2006-07, and includes: 
•  $45 million to commence construction on a major expansion of the Rockingham Kwinana 

Hospital; 
•  $22.3 million to redevelop the existing hospital in Broome into a substantial Regional Resource 

Centre for the Kimberley; 
•  $21.2 million to progress the upgrade of the Joondalup Health Campus, including expansion of the 

inpatient mental health unit; and 
•  $10.3 million to commence construction of the Hedland Regional Resource Centre. 
Construction on the new $1.09 billion Fiona Stanley Hospital will commence in 2008, and is due to be 
completed in 2012-13.  What is more, Fiona Stanley Hospital will be built free of debt, Mr President! 
Climate Change 
Western Australians are blessed with a vast and beautiful State.  The government is seeking to preserve 
and protect it. 
The budget commits over $100 million over the next five years to implement the Government’s climate 
change package. 
This package includes $36.5 million to establish a Low Emission Energy Development Fund to support 
technology breakthroughs that cut greenhouse gas emissions. 
It includes $19.5 million to promote the State Government purchasing 20 per cent of its electricity 
requirements from accredited renewable energy sources by 2010. 
It also includes $8.8 million to implement a mandatory energy efficiency scheme to be applied to large 
and medium sized power consumers. 
Households will be rewarded for using waterwise products through the continuation of the 
Government’s Waterwise Rebate Scheme, with funding of $9 million per annum in 2007-08 and 
2008-09.  Products for which households can claim rebates include rainwater tanks, water efficient 
washing machines, greywater re-use systems, swimming pool covers, flow control valves, subsurface 
irrigation systems and waterwise garden assessments. 
The Government will work to make the most of the State’s sunshine by spending $4.1 million over 
four years to enable more than a quarter of the State’s schools to use renewable energy by 2011.  One 
kilowatt solar power systems will be installed in over 350 primary and secondary schools to reduce 
power consumption, and to serve as an educational tool to raise awareness of sustainable energy. 
The budget also provides $1.6 million to establish a National Emissions Trading Team.  This team will 
help ensure the best outcomes for Western Australia, both environmental and economic, under a future 
national emissions trading scheme - with or without the Commonwealth’s involvement. 
Protecting Our Children 
Our children deserve the right to live in a safe and secure environment. 
In response to the Review of the Department for Community Development, the Government has split 
the Department for Community Development into the Department for Child Protection and the 
Department for Communities, effective from 1 May 2007. 
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In addition, funding of $104.5 million over four years has been provided to implement a number of 
structural reforms to child protection operations in Western Australia.   

This investment builds on the $51 million child protection package announced by the Government in 
September 2006 to recruit an additional 133 child protection and support workers to meet the increasing 
needs of vulnerable children and families at risk. 

Key initiatives in 2007-08 include increased subsidies and additional support for foster carers, planning 
for the expansion of residential care placements across the State and establishing the first five additional 
new group homes, and improving services to children in care, with a particular focus on indigenous 
children. 

In addition, the Government has allocated $11.9 million over four years to operate two hostels in Halls 
Creek, which will provide an additional 17 care places for children at risk. 

Education and Training 
In recognition of the significant skills shortage across the State, this Government continues to 
demonstrate its firm commitment to the training system. 

Industry has been asking for upgraded facilities to deliver the skilled workers to the industries and areas 
where they are needed most.  The industry-led Skills Formation Taskforce has called for greater 
flexibility and responsiveness in the system. 

The Government has listened to these concerns and is taking action.  The training system is being 
transformed to make it more responsive, flexible and efficient.  In addition to the 34,600 apprenticeship 
and traineeship places in 2007-08, the budget provides $44.5 million to deliver new and upgraded 
facilities and equipment for TAFE colleges in both metropolitan and regional Western Australia.  The 
Government will also implement specific reforms aimed at streamlining processes, attracting new 
people into trades and developing techniques for assessing the skills of workers seeking formal 
qualifications. 

In 2007-08, the Government will spend a record $3.3 billion on education and training, an increase of 
$177 million or 5.7 per cent.  This includes: 

•  implementation of a range of advertising and recruitment programs for more teachers, which has 
already resulted in expressions of interest from 150 teachers from the United Kingdom; 

•  the employment of additional teachers for the Getting It Right Literacy and Numeracy Strategy; 
and 

•  ongoing assistance for parents whose children are aged 16 or 17 in Years 11 and 12, or enrolled in 
full-time TAFE or private training. 

Law, Order and Safety 

The safety of all Western Australians remains of paramount importance to the Government. 

That is why it is increasing recurrent funding for the Police Service in 2007-08 by $55.3 million, or 
7.6 per cent.  On frontline policing alone, the Government is investing an additional $17.7 million. 

In 2007-08, an additional 90 police officers will be recruited, continuing the Government’s commitment 
to an additional 350 officers.  By the end of 2007-08, 260 officers will have been recruited above 
attrition in this term of government and will bring to 510 the total number of additional police officers 
recruited since February 2001. 

The Government is spending $220 million in 2007-08 on law and order related capital works, including 
regional prison upgrades, continuation of the CBD Courts project, commencement of the Kalgoorlie 
Court Upgrade, the new Perth Police Complex and construction of new police stations in both regional 
and metropolitan areas.  The budget also includes spending of $104 million over the next four years on 
a new Kimberley prison and work camp.   

Road safety is a key concern.  Too many people are dying unnecessarily on our roads.  The Government 
will spend around $1.2 billion on the State’s roads in 2007-08, with two thirds of this to be spent on 
country roads.  Significantly, $270 million will be spent on road maintenance. 

The budget also allocates a total of $48 million in 2007-08 to the State Black Spot and Safer Roads 
programs.   

The Government is also implementing a reform package worth $73.8 million over four years to 
modernise the Licensing Business Unit within the Department for Planning and Infrastructure.  These 
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reforms will improve customer service through reductions in waiting times at licensing centres and 
technology upgrades at the Licensing call centre.  

These are just some of the major highlights of this year’s budget.  In 2007-08, the Government will 
spend a total of $16.1 billion on service delivery, or over $7,600 for every Western Australian.  In 
addition to the major initiatives outlined earlier, this includes significant funding increases for disability 
services and environment and conservation, together with initiatives in agriculture and food.  

CONCLUSION 
Budgets are all about balancing competing demands for services, infrastructure, competitive taxes, and 
fees and charges.   

This budget addresses the challenges - and maximises the opportunities - of Western Australia’s 
unprecedented prosperity. 

This is highlighted by: 

•  the Government’s response to housing affordability, including the introduction of the most 
generous tax concessions for first home buyers in the nation; 

•  spending $67.4 billion on service delivery over the next four years; 

•  the decision reflected in this budget to use the 2006-07 cash surplus to fully fund the new Fiona 
Stanley Hospital, with no debt burden on future generations of Western Australian taxpayers;  

•  the massive Capital Works Program, including provision for the development of new water sources 
to address our future water needs; and 

•  spending a further $2.1 billion on tax cuts, bringing the total value to $5.8 billion over the next four 
years. 

Above all, this budget turns today’s prosperity into decisions for our future. 

I commend the budget to the house. 

Debate adjourned, on motion Hon Ken Baston. 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BIOFUELS TASKFORCE 
Statement by Minister for Agriculture and Food 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural - Minister for Agriculture and Food) [2.30 pm] - by leave:  I thank 
honourable members for their accommodation.  In February 2006 I appointed the Western Australian Biofuels 
Taskforce to identify the key opportunities and issues for the future development of a biofuels industry in 
Western Australia.  During the past 14 months, the Biofuels Taskforce has undertaken extensive consultation 
with all stakeholders and developed recommendations on how to assist with the emerging Western Australian 
biofuels industry.  I would particularly like to thank the chair of the task force, Hon Graham Giffard, MLC, and 
the other parliamentary members, including Hon Paul Llewellyn, MLC, Terry Redman, MLA, and Hon Nigel 
Hallett, MLC.  The taskforce has laid out some 24 challenging recommendations addressing the economic, 
environmental and social aspects of biofuels both from a government and an industry perspective.  The report is 
now available to all stakeholders and the government will seek public comment on the report until 15 July 2007.  
Once feedback from stakeholders has been received and reviewed, the government will assess the report’s 
recommendations and respond formally.  I seek leave to table the WA Biofuels Taskforce report and attached 
documents. 

Leave granted.  [See paper 2708.] 

Consideration of the statement made an order of the day for the next sitting. 

ROAD TRAFFIC AMENDMENT (DRUGS) BILL 2006 
Third Reading 

Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon Jon Ford (Minister for Regional Development), and passed. 

BIOSECURITY AND AGRICULTURE MANAGEMENT BILL 2006 
Committee 

The Chairman of Committees (Hon George Cash) in the chair; Hon Kim Chance (Minister for Agriculture and 
Food) in charge of the bill. 

Resumed from 8 May. 
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Clause 12:  Consultation with other Ministers and Biosecurity Council -  
Progress was reported after Hon Kim Chance had moved the following amendments -  

Page 18, lines 26 and 27 - To delete “, other than a declaration relating to a fish,” 

Page 18, line 28 to page 19, line 1 - To delete the lines.  

Page 19, line 2 - To delete “other”.  

Page 19, lines 8 to 16 - To delete the lines. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  Perhaps I could speak to this suite of amendments in general terms and refer to the 
matters raised by the Standing Committee on Legislation.  We are dealing with this matter ahead of formally 
responding to the standing committee’s response, so it is important for members to understand what the Standing 
Committee on Legislation observed in this respect.  These amendments relate to consultation with other 
ministers and the Biosecurity Council.  At page 27 of the standing committee’s seventh report, we began our 
discussions on what is a core matter for this bill: which ministers will be consulted and in relation to which 
matters, and also the consultation requirements with the Biosecurity Council.  The committee’s report said the 
following on page 28 in regard to consultation with ministers -  

The green BAM Bill’s equivalent of clause 12 mandated consultation with both the Minister for 
Environment and the Minister administering the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 
(CALM Act Minister) before making every declaration as to permitted organisms and prohibited 
organisms.  If the proposed declaration involved a fish, the Minister administering the Fish Resources 
Management Act 1994 (Minister for Fisheries) also had to be consulted.  Other Ministers were only 
required to be consulted if the Minister considered that they had a relevant interest in the proposed 
declaration.  

The report goes on to talk about the text of the equivalent clause.  I will refer to this because the clause was in 
the original green bill.  It states -  

12. Consultation with other Ministers and Biosecurity Council 

Before making a declaration under section 10 or 11 the Minister must consult with - 
(a) the Minister for the Environment; 

(b) the CALM Act Minister; 

(c) if the proposed declaration relates to a fish, the Minister for Fisheries; 

(d) any other Minister who in the opinion of the Minister has a relevant interest; and 

(e) if the Minister is of the opinion that such consultation is necessary for the purpose of properly 
informing himself or herself as to whether or not the declaration should be made, the 
Biosecurity Council. 

That was in the original draft.  Although the majority of the committee has supported the minister’s amendments 
that we are currently debating, I argued that the proposition in the green bill was better.  I made a minority 
comment to that effect.  The report goes on to say - 

When addressing the operation of the green BAM Bill, the DOF submitted that it is a: 
critical requirement for extremely rapid action in respect of potential introduced aquatic pests, 
… [meaning] … that mechanisms for section 10, 11 and 21 declarations must be efficient and 
effective.  Accordingly, it is essential that sections 12(a), (b) and 21(4)(a) and (b) of the Bill 
are amended to remove the additional requirement to consult with the listed Ministers in 
respect of fish.” 

I am sure many members are aware of the longstanding turf war between the Department of Fisheries and the 
former Department of Conservation and Land Management, the Department of Environment and Conservation.  
This is part of the same debate about which department should rightfully be involved in decisions that involve 
aquatic environmental management.  The report goes on to say - 

The clause 12 which is now before the Committee is significantly different in that the Minister for 
Fisheries is the only Minister who must be consulted before a proposed declaration relating to a fish is 
made. 

The Department of Health (DOH) suggested that clause 12 be amended so that the Minister is also 
required to consult the Minister for Health before declaring an organism (including a fish) to be either a 
permitted or prohibited organism.  The suggestion was made on the basis that the Minister for Health 
has a specific interest in ensuring that activities, including agricultural and biosecurity activities, do not 
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adversely impact on the health of the population.  In response, the DAF indicated that clause 12(1)(c) 
(“any other Minister who in the opinion of the Minister has a relevant interest”) already authorises 
consultation with the Minister for Health: 

To require consultation with the Minister for Health in relation to pests that have no human 
health impacts is an unnecessary administrative burden and may be counter-productive, 
particularly where a declaration needs to be made quickly to deal with an urgent, high - risk 
situation.  Clause 12(1) requires consultation with the Minister for the Environment and the 
CALM Act Minister (which will usually be one and the same) and the Minister for Fisheries 
because these Ministers are responsible for managing two key areas that are covered by the 
Bill. i.e. the protection of the environment and fish resources against the impacts of harmful 
organisms. 

The Department for Environment and Conservation (DEC) recommended to the Committee that clause 
12(2) be amended so that the Minister is also required to consult with the Minister administering the 
Environmental Protection Act 1986 . . . before declaring a fish to be either a permitted or prohibited 
organism.  The suggestion was made on the basis that the Minister for the Environment is responsible 
for the protection of the environment, including the aquatic environment, and the conservation of 
biodiversity generally.  Any decision by the Minister to declare an organism either a permitted or 
prohibited organism could then benefit from, and incorporate, the knowledge held by the Minister for 
the Environment and the DEC.  The DAF again relied upon the Minister’s option to consult any other 
Minister where relevant . . . It appeared, from the DAF’s response to this issue, that clause 12 of the 
BAM Bill had been amended from the green BAM Bill as a result of the DOF’s concerns: 

The Department of Fisheries specifically requested that clause 12(2) only require the Minister 
for Agriculture and Food to consult with the Minister for Fisheries before declaring a fish to 
be either a prohibited or permitted organism, as the Fisheries Minister has primary 
responsibility for managing the aquatic environment.  The Department of Fisheries maintains 
that the Bill should not impose a mandatory obligation on the Minister to consult with the 
Environment Minister on every proposal to declare fish.  Some declarations may need to be 
made quickly to deal with urgent, high - risk situations. 

Again, that is an ongoing debate between the Department of Fisheries and the former Department of 
Conservation and Land Management about whose responsibility it is to deal with the aquatic environment.  The 
minister has already spoken about this to the extent that he said that CALM basically deals with oxygen-
breathing organisms and fisheries deals with fish.  Nothing is quite that simple.  The whole lot slosh around 
together in the same soup.  I put the case that the Department of Environment and Conservation has an equal 
interest in marine and aquatic environments.  It has obligations to maintain biodiversity both in terrestrial and 
aquatic environments, including marine environments.   

The committee basically had this dilemma about whether we level it all by saying that the agriculture 
minister can have the call and consults with whichever department is considered relevant.  That is the 
effect of the amendments we are pursuing now.  I wanted to express as a minority view that the first 
proposition was better and included that balance.  My concern is that this bill is trying to balance the 
objectives of protecting agricultural production from pests and our environment with the decision-
making power resting with the minister, being the Minister for Agriculture and Food, with the 
discretion to consult other ministers totally in the control of the Minister for Agriculture and Food.  To 
my view, that has tipped the balance too far in the direction of agriculture.  I appreciate that I will 
probably not win this argument given the numbers in this place.  Seeing that the majority of the 
committee support this direction, I simply say that I realise that the argument was put that urgent 
decisions on whether to list an organism or declare an organism require rapid action in a number of 
cases.   

That was part of the argument people put forward, saying they want it to rest with one minister who may consult 
if it is considered the other ministers have a relevant interest.  I argue that the original green bill better addressed 
this balance.  I will leave my comments at that.  I oppose the amendments. 

Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I wish to make a couple of remarks.  It always worries me when we get into this 
issue of having a number of ministers responsible that we take a long time to make a decision.  I am very much 
in favour of a primary minister being in charge of the decision making and consulting with other people rather 
than just having a maze where there is no primary decision maker.  I would not like to see a situation like that 
develop as a result of passing these amendments.  I understand that a minister will make the final decision.  I 
hope that is the basis of the amendments.   

Hon KEN BASTON:  I support some of the things that Hon Giz Watson said.  The important thing is that we 
need to be able to move quickly.  One would hope that the minister of the day would always be able to control 
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and would notify any of those departments that were affected.  We will certainly be supporting the amendments 
to clause 12.   

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I have one further question on these amendments.  It relates to one of the core matters 
that this legislation deals with.  Clearly, I concede that it is better to level the playing field by saying that we will 
remove the obligations to consult with the Minister for Fisheries on matters to do with fish and the Minister for 
the Environment as well.  At least it has been levelled.  I do not know whether the minister can answer this 
question.  Another piece of legislation is keenly anticipated for this state - namely, the biodiversity conservation 
bill.  Can the minister foreshadow how this provision will interact with requirements under that bill?  I realise 
that it might be slightly difficult.  I am asking a hypothetical question.  How will the obligations to protect WA’s 
biodiversity, which I understand is the main purpose of that bill, interact with this bill?  As I say, my primary 
concern is that the ultimate decision will be given to the Minister for Agriculture and Food, whereas this bill is 
supposed to be about biosecurity and agriculture.  Biosecurity is very much a matter that is of concern to the 
minister administering environmental legislation. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  I will deal with that last question first.  It is an interesting question and I cannot answer it 
other than in an in-principle way, because the biodiversity legislation, which I know is keenly anticipated, is 
needed to replace, as this legislation will, outdated and difficult-to-work-with legislation - principally the 
Wildlife Conservation Act 1950 - as well as other legislation.  In principle, the issues of conflict that the member 
referred to ought not exist, because these two key pieces of modernising legislation are designed to be 
complementary to each other and to sit side by side, with a much clearer fence drawn between the areas of 
responsibility.  We will have, on the one hand, modern legislation dealing with biosecurity and agriculture, and, 
on the other hand, separate legislation which quite clearly deals with issues concerning biodiversity, but which 
includes all the objects of the Wildlife Conservation Act.  Whether that will be realised in practice, of course, 
will depend upon how well it is drafted, and that has not been done yet.  However, the in-principle issues should 
not be difficult to separate.  In reflecting on Hon Giz Watson’s reference to a degree of conflict between the 
Department of Fisheries and the Department of Environment and Conservation, I do not believe, and I never 
have believed, that there is any area of legal conflict. 

Hon Giz Watson:  It is not so much legal. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  A simple reading of the Fish Resources Management Act quite clearly shows where the 
responsibility for fish lies.  To the extent that the Department of Environment and Conservation has a 
responsibility for the same animals and plants, it is a much more general responsibility, and, in law, specific 
always overrides general.  I do not see the conflict in law and I never have.  I was always bemused by the 
arguments that were made because there is no conflict.  One clearly has a responsibility, but let us not dwell too 
much on that.  I will not go back through the issues that I debated on Tuesday.  My comments are on the record, 
so I will not revisit them. 
Although I agree with Hon Murray Criddle and Hon Ken Baston that, when dealing with emergencies, it is 
desirable to have that emergency power vested in a single minister - that is why the legislation is drafted the way 
it is - we are unnecessarily raising issues about who should be involved in the decision.  The fundamental error 
we are making is that we are assuming that the flow of information and authority travels only from the Minister 
for Agriculture and Food to the other agencies and ministers.  In point of fact, when dealing with marine species, 
the flow of information will be the other way.  Although it might not be a flow of authority, in law it will in fact 
be a flow of authority, because the authority with which the information comes to the Minister for Agriculture 
and Food will make that minister’s decision a fait accompli in my view.  I will give an example.  A couple of 
years ago the dredging of Geraldton harbour began with dredges from the Caribbean.  They had been lying idle 
in the Caribbean for some years, and it was not until after the dredges arrived in Geraldton harbour that it was 
realised that they were infested with the black-striped mussel, which is a disease that would devastate our 
pearling industry, and probably also our scallop industry.  Fisheries officers discovered the black-striped mussel, 
which is clearly an animal that is both commercially and ecologically a threat to Western Australia.  It could also 
have been discovered by officers of the then Department of Conservation and Land Management, but, in fact, it 
was discovered by fisheries officers.  The Department of Fisheries dealt with the matter quickly, and that is 
exactly how this legislation is designed to work.  There may have been some delays in getting approvals through, 
but such was the emergency status of that discovery that it was dealt with immediately.  This legislation is 
designed to give certainty to that process.  That is an example of how the flow of information would not be from 
the BAM act minister across to other ministers.  The flow of information in fact would be reversed; it would be 
from the Minister for Fisheries or the Minister for the Environment - whoever was responsible for the 
discovery - to the BAM act minister, and action would be immediate.  I do not think there is any real reason for 
concern about that.  The single-minister responsibility is important because someone ultimately has to be 
accountable.  However, the flow of information is the more important issue. 
Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I was not pointing out which way the information was going to flow.  What I am 
concerned about is any delay in the decision making at the end.  That is the point I was making.  I have seen 
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these things time and again.  There can be delays, and there needs to be a mechanism whereby someone is in 
charge to overcome those possible delays. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  That was my point when I said that I agreed with Hon Murray Criddle and Hon Ken 
Baston; that is, it is important to have a single minister with responsibility and authority. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I will briefly explain the conflict in the marine environment because I think there is a 
problem.  The assumption that there is no conflict rests on the premise that fish can be taken out of a system 
without it affecting the rest of the ecosystem.  The Department of Fisheries has the same conflict of interest that 
CALM had when it managed forests.  The lead agency that manages the biodiversity of the marine environment 
cannot at the same time exploit it. 

Hon Kim Chance:  That is very 1980s thinking. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  It is very 1980s thinking.  How did we sort out the problem with CALM and the forests 
when we have not sorted out the problem with fisheries and the marine environment?  My point is that when a 
department takes out a chunk of the biomass, it is inevitable that that will affect the rest of the ecosystem, and 
that is the responsibility of the Department of Environment and Conservation, but I will leave it at that. 

Hon Kim Chance:  I don’t think we’re going to agree on this one. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  We probably will not agree on this one.  I have some very good scientific papers that I 
could provide to the minister, if he likes. 

Hon Kim Chance:  We have all been plagued by them! 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I will now respond to the minister’s comments about the relationship between this 
legislation and the biodiversity conservation legislation.  The minister’s comments seemed to indicate that the 
objective was to create clear boundaries, whereas I thought that the objective of both pieces of legislation would 
be to provide integration.  The biodiversity conservation legislation will be very much about biosecurity, in the 
same way as this bill is attempting to be about biosecurity.  If we do not deal with biosecurity, we will not 
maintain Western Australia’s biodiversity.  As we know, invasive pests and weeds are right up there in their 
impact on not only agriculture, but also the viability of our ecosystems.  We probably cannot resolve this 
question during this debate, but it will be essential that the two bills mesh in lots of way. 

Hon Kim Chance:  And probably complement each other. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  Yes, and complement each other. 

Hon Kim Chance:  We agree. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  Yes.  If the declaration of weeds and pests rests ultimately with the Minister for 
Agriculture and Food, that will potentially be a problem in how the biodiversity conservation legislation is 
constructed.  Does the minister get my point? 

Hon Kim Chance:  Yes, I do. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I seek some reassurance that the biodiversity conservation legislation will have a 
significant say in biosecurity issues as well.  My worry is that because we are dealing with this bill first, the 
biodiversity conservation legislation might be short-changed on biosecurity matters.  I am trying to address the 
big picture here.  I have not got a sense from the government about how that integration or separation will be 
worked through.  I do not know whether the minister could add anything to that. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  I have captured the essence of what the member is saying.  I believe the member is right, 
and I can see areas in which the existence of the two acts will from time create some interesting issues.  The 
existence of the two acts does not in itself create the issues, because those issues are already there.  Usually those 
issues are not being dealt with well.  We hope that if we have two modern pieces of legislation, each drafted in 
the context of the other - something we currently do not have - the legislation would be designed to deal with 
each side of the issue in dispute.  With both being modern pieces of legislation, and roughly equal in their power, 
better outcomes will be achieved.  For example, there are plants which to one sector, such as the agricultural 
sector, are things of great beauty- 

Hon Margaret Rowe:  Buffel grass. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  Such as buffel grass.  I wondered when it was going to come up again.  Buffel grass is 
seen by pastoralists as a plant of great value; inestimable value.  On the other side, from a biodiversity point of 
view, all of us would recognise that buffel grass dominates the landscape and clearly causes issues around 
biodiversity.  That is acknowledged even by the agricultural side.  At the moment, we do not have two pieces of 
legislation that are capable of dealing with that issue, in my view.  Agencies and agency employees must sort of 
rattle around in a legislative limbo in coming to terms with how to deal with that.  That is not fair to them.  From 
the chief executive officer down to the rangelands officer in the field; it is not fair to any of those people.  The 
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difficulty will be drafting legislation that is more capable of dealing with the issue and we might fail at that.  
However, I think we need to at least make an attempt to get those two pieces of legislation drafted in the context 
of these issues and how we might deal with such issues.  It is a debate for another time, but I thank Hon Giz 
Watson for raising it.  The buffel grass matter is not an island; there are a number of similar issues.  I think it is 
worthwhile raising it, and I feel confident that the member will raise it when we get to the biodiversity 
legislation. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I do not think the buffel grass is going away either.  In the reading that I have done in 
relation to this bill, it is recognised that Western Australia is probably leading the country in terms of 
biosecurity.  That is recognised by the conservation sector as well as the agriculture sector.  I am not trying to 
cast aspersions; I am just trying to work out how these things will mesh together.  With this amendment, the 
clause will now read that the minister must consult with any other minister who in the opinion of the minister has 
a relevant interest.  What would the repercussions be if a declaration was made and then one of the other 
ministers who believed that they had a relevant interest was unhappy with that decision, and considered that they 
should have been consulted?  I am just anticipating that it might arise.  How would that situation be resolved?   

Hon KIM CHANCE:  In a civilised world, that would be resolved around the cabinet table.   

Amendments put and passed. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed. 

Clause 13 put and passed. 

Clause 14:  Import restrictions - 
Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I want to refer to this clause, but it seems to me that  my comments also relate to 
clause 22 with regard to introducing or supplying declared plants.  It mentions accordance with an import permit, 
regulations and so forth.  When will we see those regulations?  Will there be obviously listed information in 
those regulations so that we know what we are complying with?  The other thing is the relationship with issues 
such as the fire blight issue.  Is that related to this particular clause of the bill? 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  Until such time as the bill gains royal assent and the regulations are completed, the 
provisions of the Plant Diseases Act will remain in place.  Issues concerning fire blight, for example, were dealt 
with partly as a result of the Plant Diseases Act, not the agriculture, fisheries and forestry legislation.  The Plant 
Diseases Act is to be read together with the equivalent federal act, the Quarantine Act.  This point struck me six 
or seven years ago -   

Hon Murray Criddle:  I think we’ve had this discussion before. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  Those two acts are clearly designed to run parallel with, and complementary to, each 
other.  I had to determine that in my own mind to ensure there was no possibility of a section 109 issue of a 
conflict between commonwealth and state authority.  I reviewed it in my own mind, and I am not a High Court 
judge, but that was not a possibility in the event that New Zealand apples were permitted to be imported into 
other parts of Australia.  The Plant Diseases Act is quite good legislation, so the absence of regulations under 
this legislation is not a ticking time bomb by any means.  Could it be better?  Absolutely.  However, it will be 
done as soon as we possibly can.  I would imagine that we would get regulations completed as a priority.  I am 
assured that is the case, because it is one of the key areas of the legislation.   

Hon Murray Criddle:  That’s why I asked the question. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  Yes.  It is one of the key areas, but I cannot predict exactly when that will be.  However, 
there is no ticking time bomb.   

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 15 to 20 put and passed. 

Clause 21:  Declared pests - 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  I move - 

Page 24, lines 6 and 7 - To delete “, other than a declaration relating to a fish,”. 

Page 24, lines 8 and 9 - To delete the lines. 

Page 24, lines 16 to 24 - To delete the lines. 

These amendments give effect to recommendation 9 of the Legislation Committee, which we just spent time 
discussing, and ensures the requirement for the minister to consult the other relevant ministers prior to declaring 
an organism to be a declared pest, and is consistent with clause 12 relating to prohibited organisms.  The three 
components of this amendment have that effect. 
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Hon GIZ WATSON:  I made a minority finding regarding this recommendation and favoured the approach 
adopted in the green Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Bill.  However, I will not speak any more on this 
matter because I have covered the comments that I wish to make. 

Amendments put and passed. 
Hon ANTHONY FELS:  Clause 21(1) states - 

A prohibited organism is a declared pest for the whole of Western Australia. 

Could an organism be a problem in the south west or high rainfall areas but not be a problem in the north west?  
Would a situation arise whereby such a pest would not be a declared pest for all of Western Australia? 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  The answer is absolutely yes.  The evidence for that is to be found at clause 21(6), which 
states - 

The area for which an organism is declared to be a declared pest may be the whole or part of the State. 

Some animals are declared pests on one side of the Albany Highway but not on the other side of the Albany 
Highway.  Sometimes the divisions seem arbitrary.  It is absolutely the case that a part of the state can be subject 
to a declaration.  A very recent example of that is the rainbow lorikeet, which until a month or so ago was not a 
declared animal in Perth but which was a declared animal everywhere else in the state.  We have taken away that 
differential.  It is now a declared pest in Perth also. 

Hon ANTHONY FELS:  I want to ensure that clause 1 does override clause 6.  If a prohibited organism is a 
declared pest for the whole of Western Australia, does it not clash with clause 6? 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  It depends on the nature of an organism.  If an organism is such that it would not be 
appropriate to declare it as a pest for particular parts of the state, such as the hydatid cyst or whatever, we would 
not want it in any part of the state.  Therefore, it would be declared as a pest over the whole state and we would 
have to have that legislative power.  However, some organisms can exist safely in some parts of the state or are 
already naturalised in that part of the state.  We do not want to have to control those types of organisms.  That is 
a possibility, but it is a matter of giving the regulators flexibility and options about how they operate and of not 
creating ridiculous situations that would involve uneconomic control measures being enforced on people when 
there is no economic return. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed. 

Clause 22 put and passed. 

Clause 23:  Introducing or supplying declared pest - 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  I move - 

Page 26, lines 10 and 11 - To delete the lines and insert instead - 

(c) a potential carrier of an organism that is - 

(i) a declared pest for the first-mentioned area; and 

(ii) prescribed by the regulations or specified in the management plan. 

Page 26, lines 24 and 25 - To delete the lines and insert instead - 

(c) a potential carrier of an organism that is -  

(i) a declared pest for the area; and 

(ii) prescribed by the regulations or specified in the management plan. 

I wanted to check something that I said on Tuesday, and I knew I was right.  This amendment gives effect to 
recommendation 7 of the committee that the bill be amended so that - 

. . . a ‘potential carrier’ is ‘prescribed’ by regulations and ‘specified’ by management plans. 

The second part of the amendment also gives effect to recommendation 7.  When I spoke about this matter on 
Tuesday regarding the difference between the words “prescribed” and “specified”, I made the point that 
“prescribed” relates to anything arriving from regulations and “specified” relates to something that arises from a 
management plan.  I said then that in future these will be referred to as the recommendation 6 issues, even 
though it is now in recommendation 7.  It comes up in numerous places in the legislation. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  It is difficult for those of us who worked on this bill for several months to now grapple 
with these changes at such relatively short notice.  I need some further clarification.  The new wording of 
paragraphs (c)(ii) in both cases state - 

prescribed by the regulations or specified in the management plan. 
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That makes the differentiation that the committee referred to in recommendation 7 on page 27 of the report.  Will 
the minister explain why it has been split into subparagraphs (i) and (ii)?  I am not quite sure of the effect of new 
paragraph (c)(i).  I am sure there is a technical reason why it has been done that way.  Does that make any 
substantial difference?  Why does it need to be - 

(i) a declared pest for the area; and 
(ii) prescribed by the regulations or specified in the management plan. 

Why does it not state “a potential carrier of an organism that is prescribed by the regulations or specified in the 
management plan”?  That would cover the whole lot. 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  I am sorry that it took us a little while to work it out.  It is simply a matter of the 
nomenclature.  If the member goes to the very beginning of subclause (1), she will note that it refers to 
“regulations or a management plan”.  Since then, and adopting recommendations 6 and 7, we have now split the 
terms by which we refer to the instruments of regulations as “prescribed” and in management plans as 
“specified”.  It was necessary for us to break up paragraph (c) in that manner so that it would be intelligible, but 
continuing to recognise that two different instruments could be used. 
Hon GIZ WATSON:  That does assist.  It seems to me that with this amendment we will lose another word.  
Subclause (1)(c) refers to “specified potential carrier” and the words proposed to be placed in its stead are simply 
“potential carrier”.  Is there a difference between “specified potential carrier” and “potential carrier”? 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  It is an outcome of the nomenclature.  The original wording could use “specified” 
because we were talking only about the declaration of an organism that was a declared pest in the area.  Here we 
are talking about one that may be either prescribed or specified.  So the word “specified” is still there, but it 
applies only to a management plan. 
Amendments put and passed. 
Clause, as amended, put and passed. 
Clauses 24 to 26 put and passed. 
Clause 27:  SAT review: pest exclusion notice - 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  I move - 

Page 29, line 21 - To delete “specify circumstances” and insert instead - 

prescribe circumstances relating to a matter of emergency or urgent need 
This amendment gives effect to committee recommendation 3 so as to restrict the regulating making power to 
prescribing only circumstances of emergency or urgent need in which a right to seek a State Administrative 
Tribunal does not apply.  This will occur again and again; therefore, subsequent amendments for this purpose 
will be referred to as a recommendation 3 amendment. 
Hon GIZ WATSON:  I appreciate that the government has accommodated this committee recommendation.  
Just to be totally pedantic, recommendation 2 actually refers to clause 27.  I think a lot of the other amendments 
are in recommendation 3.  That is just to show the minister that I am reading the report as we go ahead! 
Hon Kim Chance:  Thank you so much for that! 
Hon GIZ WATSON:  Recommendation 2 recommends that clauses 27, 36, 74 and 75 be amended. 
Hon Kim Chance:  Yes. 
Amendment put and passed. 
Clause, as amended, put and passed. 
Clause 28:  Compliance with pest exclusion notice - 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  I move - 

Page 29, lines 28 to 30 - To delete “may include, after consultation with the authority, a summary of the 
authority’s failure in the department’s next annual report” and insert instead - 

, after consultation with the authority, must include in the department’s next annual report a 
statement on the performance of the public authority in relation to compliance with this 
Division 

Page 30, lines 1 to 6 - To delete the lines and insert instead - 

(3) A statement under subsection (2) may include - 

(a) any explanation offered by the authority in relation to its compliance with 
this Division; and 

(b) recommendations as to how compliance could be improved. 
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These amendments give effect to committee recommendation 12, but it does not give effect to the 
recommendation in its entirety.  Recommendation 12, together with recommendations 14 and 16, would require 
every instance of noncompliance with a notice and prescribed control measures by a public authority to be 
mentioned in the Department of Agriculture and Food’s next annual report.  Clauses 28(2), 27(7) and 31(2) 
allow the director general to include in the department’s annual report a summary of a failure by a public 
authority to comply with a pest exclusion notice to take prescribed control measures or to comply with a pest 
control notice. 

The intention of these clauses is not to name and shame a public authority every time it fails to comply with the 
relevant requirement; rather, the clauses are intended to provide a mechanism for the director general to report 
on the overall performance of an authority that has, for some reason, failed in this regard, and to highlight to 
Parliament the reasons for the noncompliance, particularly when an authority lacks the resources to adequately 
control declared pests on lands for which it is responsible.  To do this, it is unnecessary to include in an annual 
report the provision of a summary for every single event of noncompliance.  Hence, the director general has 
given discretion to whether to include mention of a particular noncompliance.  The government believes that if it 
is to be obligatory for the director general to report on the noncompliance of public authorities, then the 
provisions should be couched in terms of a general requirement to report on the level of compliance of public 
authorities with the requirements of this division of the bill; not in the current terms of a summary of each failure 
to comply.  Therefore, this amendment will amend clause 28 of the bill so that the director general is required to 
include in the department’s annual report a report of the overall performance of an authority that has been 
noncompliant in some respect.  The same amendment is proposed for clauses 29 and 31.   

Hon Bruce Donaldson asked a question, not in relation to this clause because he has not spoken on it, on this 
general issue.  He asked what steps other than the reporting measures proposed by the bill could the director 
general take if there is a failure by a government agency to comply with the pest control notice or prescribed pest 
control measures.  If the question relates to the control of high impact organisms, which are those organisms that 
have the potential to seriously threaten primary industries, the environment or public amenity, the Department of 
Agriculture and Food would undertake measures to contain and eradicate those organisms until such time as the 
extent of an infestation or infection is thoroughly assessed and the likelihood of containing or eradicating the 
pest or disease is known.  These are emergency response steps.  They are necessary before government or 
industry commits funding towards the cost of potentially very expensive and/or long-term containment or 
eradication programs.  The Department of Agriculture and Food will undertake such action regardless of whether 
the high impact organism was found on public or private land.  We recently had examples of both of those.  

Emergency response measures may also be considered for potentially serious prohibited organisms that are not 
prescribed as high impact organisms.   

Hon KEN BASTON:  The Legislation Committee’s recommendation to clause 28 was made on the premise that 
we felt that we were making all these laws for various individuals or corporations, but we were not including, 
perhaps, many government departments or government authorities.  I notice in further amendments that 
reference is made to an “authority”.  It is interesting that this has arisen since I made my contribution to the 
second reading speech and that the Department of Agriculture and Food is heading in a line of authority.  I have 
some concern with that.   

Hon Kim Chance:  The authority that we are referring to in this legislation is another public authority which has 
control over the land.   

Hon KEN BASTON:  No.  The government’s amendments have been changed since the committee discussed 
this legislation.   

I am disappointed that it has taken nine years to get to this stage and after the committee sat in February and 
March and pored over the legislation in great detail we now have more amendments other than the 
34 amendments that the Legislation Committee recommended.   

Hon Kim Chance:  This is one of them.   

Hon KEN BASTON:  Yes, but it is not in the same context that we suggested.  It is an improvement.  I notice 
that the amendment states - 

. . . after consultation with the authority, must . . .  

In the original amendment the last word was “may” and it is certainly an improvement.   

The Legislation Committees’ report 7 states the following in relation to clause 28 - 

Director General’s discretion to report non-compliance by public authorities 
2.89 This clause prescribes the ramifications for non-compliance with a pest exclusion notice issued 

under clause 26.  A person who receives a pest exclusion notice and does not comply with it 
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may be liable to a fine of up to $20,000.  In the case of a non-complying public authority 
however, no fiscal penalty is imposed; instead, the Director General may - 

That word is changed to “must” in this amendment.  To continue - 

include a summary of the public authority’s non-compliance in the DAF’s next annual report.  

This point was certainly raised by the stakeholders.  It was a concern for grower bodies, such as the Pastoralists 
and Graziers Association and Western Australian Farmers Federation.  The concern comes with the Department 
of Environment and Conservation owning more land in the state and the feeling that it does not have to operate 
under the same lines.  If we were to have it operating under the same lines - that is, to meet the triple bottom 
line etc - these rules would apply.  I admit that this amendment is an improvement but it is not satisfactory as an 
accountability compliance.   

In the second reading debate the minister asked me where I would declare them all.  In the fine print we witness 
in this chamber it would not take long to fill a page up.  I do not believe the compliance on a department or 
authority is successful.   

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I accept that this amendment is an improvement.  I was part of the majority of the 
Legislation Committee that recommended that these fines be equally applied to agents of the Crown.  I realise 
that this opens up an interesting area of policy and law in applying fines to other agents of the Crown.  I will talk 
about that in more detail in a minute.  The principle I support is based on the fact that when we discussed this in 
the committee there were very few examples of where a transgression by a department was actually followed up 
with a fine.  The only one that we could think of was when the Water Corporation was fined by the then 
Department of Environment for a sewage spill into the Swan River.  It seems to me that that sets an example.  
The point is one of community perception and fairness in regard to this issue.   

Obviously, a department will have a strong disincentive to be harbouring a declared pest or complying with the 
obligations to remove a pest species if it is to be named in an annual report.  The trouble with being named in an 
annual report is that generally there is a time lag.  In the community’s perception that is seen as a much lesser 
punishment than actually being fined.  The argument will be that we are taking money from one department and 
putting it into the public coffers.  Perhaps that is an argument for it not being a problem.  I realise there will be 
arguments about the time taken up in court cases that might not be productive.   

Perhaps I will start in more detail on this issue by seeking clarification of the term “public authority”.  It is 
defined to include ministers, government agencies, corporate bodies established for public purposes, and local 
government.  Which, if any, of these bodies are subject to the fines in clauses 28 to 31?  I touch on all those 
clauses because this argument applies to each of them. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  There are four groups of public authorities listed (a) to (d) in the preliminary to the bill 
on page 11.  This is the interpretation of what a “public authority” is for the purposes of the legislation.  
Paragraph (a) refers to a minister of the state, who cannot be prosecuted; paragraph (b) refers to an agency or an 
organisation, as those terms are defined in the Public Sector Management Act 1994 - that is, an agent of the 
Crown - which cannot be prosecuted.  Paragraph (c), refers to a body corporate or unincorporate that is 
established or continued for a public purpose by the state, regardless of the way it is established.  Whether it can 
be prosecuted depends on how it is established.  It would be possible to prosecute many of those; it may not be 
possible to prosecute some of them.  Paragraph (d) refers to a local government or regional local government, 
and all of those can be prosecuted because they are not agents of the Crown.  It is whether an agency is an agent 
of the Crown that ultimately determines whether it can be prosecuted.  That is modified only to the extent that its 
particular enabling legislation may specify that it can or cannot be prosecuted.  The rule of thumb is that an agent 
of the Crown cannot be prosecuted unless otherwise specified. 
Hon GIZ WATSON:  The definition of public authority includes local government and I believe the minister is 
saying that under this bill, ministers or agents of the state cannot be fined.  Is that correct? 
Hon Kim Chance:  Yes. 
Hon GIZ WATSON:  Then why are local government and regional local government in this list?  It was my 
understanding that individuals can be fined but not public authorities. 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  No, that is not what I said.  The four cohorts that I described all come under the heading 
“public authority”.  A public authority may or may not be prosecutable depending on its status.  In going through 
the four cohorts from (a) to (d) and describing their nature, I broke them down one by one.  Those two in 
paragraphs (a) and (b) cannot be prosecuted; one group, those in paragraph (d), can be prosecuted; but those in 
paragraph (c) are different because with that group of groups, the status depends upon how they were 
established.  Most can be prosecuted, but some cannot. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  For my final clarity on this, local government and regional local government can be 
prosecuted - they can be fined. 
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Hon Kim Chance:  They can be prosecuted. 

Debate interrupted, pursuant to standing orders. 

[Continued on page 2056.] 

Sitting suspended from 3.45 to 4.00 pm 

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
FAIR EMPLOYMENT ADVOCATE - HELEN CREED 

298. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 
I refer the Premier to question without notice 253 concerning the appointment of Ms Helen Creed to the position 
of Fair Employment Advocate and the determination of the salary for the position. 

(1) Will the Premier table the determination of the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal dated 7 April 2006 
that is referred to in tabled paper 2675?   

(2) Why was the original determination varied for the position of Fair Employment Advocate? 

(3) Why does the tabled paper not carry the signatures of the tribunal members, and will the Premier table a 
signed copy? 

(4) Will the Premier detail the cash salary and any other benefits granted to Ms Creed?  

(5) Will the Premier table any document that shows the rationale by which the tribunal determined the 
appropriate salary level for the position? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
I thank the Leader of the Opposition for some notice of the question.  For a number of reasons, this answer has 
only just come to hand.  I do not have copies of it but I am happy to provide the tabled paper.   

(1) Yes.  I now table the documents.   

(2) The Salaries and Allowances Tribunal has advised that there was no variation to the determination for 
this position.   

(3) I now table a signed copy.   

(4) The non-tenured salary for this position is $162 723 per annum.  Additionally, a non-contributory 
superannuation amount of $16 346 per annum and a notional value for a motor vehicle of $18 900 per 
annum is provided, giving a total package of $197 969 per annum. 

(5) The Salaries and Allowances Tribunal has advised that it will not release the documents.   
[See paper 2709.] 

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING - MR PETER GADEKE 

299. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training:  
I refer to the disciplinary investigation by the Department of Education and Training into Mr Peter Gadeke’s 
actions in disclosing to the media the matter of sexual abuse of a child. 
(1) Are public reports correct that the investigation of Mr Gadeke’s action has ended; and, if so, why was 

the process stopped now? 
(2) What law or rule, with specific reference to an act and section, did Mr Gadeke breach to warrant the 

investigation into his actions? 
(3) Is it correct that the department was aware of the sexual abuse allegations raised publicly by Mr Gadeke 

prior to their publication in the media; and, if so, what did the department do with the allegations prior 
to the media publicity? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
(1) Yes.  Disciplinary action based on an alleged breach of section 242 of the School Education Act 1999 

could not be sustained.  This was determined following the completion of the investigation carried out 
under section 81 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 

(2) The department alleged that Mr Gadeke breached section 242 of the School Education Act 1999. 
(3) Yes.  Departmental staff worked with staff from the Department for Community Development and the 

Western Australia Police, which was also dealing with the allegation to protect the interests of the child 
involved.  These actions commenced approximately three weeks prior to the publication in the media.   
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SOUTHERN SUBURBS RAILWAY - CLAIMS BY CONTRACTORS 

300. Hon SIMON O’BRIEN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

(1) Which contractors have made claims for cost increases or overruns on the New MetroRail southern 
suburbs railway project? 

(2) Which of these claims have been settled and for what amounts? 
(3) What is the total of outstanding or unresolved claims against the government in respect of the project? 
Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of this question. 
(1)-(3) There have been claims or indications of intention to claim by RailLink Joint Venture, Leighton 

Contractors and John Holland Contractors/Doric Brierty Joint Venture.  The minister has no intention of 
jeopardising the taxpayers’ position while there are ongoing disputes, negotiations and litigation 
underway by discussing the details of these claims or statements of intention to claim. 

CHILDREN IN CARE - NORTHBRIDGE CURFEW 

301. Hon ROBYN McSWEENEY to the Minister for Child Protection: 
I refer to the 26 children who are state wards who were removed from Northbridge via the curfew during 2006 
and up to April 2007. 
(1) Is the minister aware that from 2004 some 70 children in the state’s care have been removed via the 

curfew? 
(2) For the 26 children removed in 2006-07, will the minister provide what type of care they were in at the 

time? 
(3) Will the minister provide the ages of the children? 
(4) Have any of the children committed offences? 
(5) What is the department doing to address this situation? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Yes.   

(2) Yes.  The answer I gave to question on notice 2161 contained a typographical error.  The number of 
children in the care of the chief executive officer who were picked up was 28, not 26.  The children 
were in the following types of care at the time they were picked up for breaching the Northbridge 
curfew: six children were in departmental residential care; one child was in non-government residential 
care; seven children were in departmental foster care, which includes relative care; two children were in 
non-government foster care; eight children were living with family or friends; two children were living 
independently; and two children had absconded from their placement and through the application of the 
Northbridge curfew were returned to care in alternative placement. 

(3) Three children were 12 years old; eight children were 13; seven children were 14; four children were 
15; five children were 16; and one child was 17. 

(4) It is not possible to provide information about whether any of the children had committed offences 
within the time available.  This information is not recorded on the department’s client system and is 
held by the police.   

(5) The Northbridge curfew is an initiative of the government and one of which we can proud.  Children, 
whether they live with their parents or are in the care of the CEO, who are drawn to this district can be 
apprehended at night and returned to safety.  I can assure the honourable member that this initiative will 
continue.   

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION - JEFFREY LUCY 

302. Hon GIZ WATSON to the parliamentary secretary representing the Attorney General:  
Given that the role of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission is to enforce company and financial 
services laws to protect consumers, investors and creditors as well as to regulate and inform the public about 
Australian companies, and referring to the proposed reappointment of Mr Jeffrey Lucy as ASIC commissioner -  

(1) Is the Attorney General satisfied with ASIC’s role under the guidance of Mr Jeffrey Lucy in the 
collapse of Fincorp Investments and Westpoint? 
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(2) Has the government consented in writing to the reappointment of Mr Jeffrey Lucy as an ASIC 
commissioner?  

(3) If yes to question (2), when was this consent given to the federal Treasurer? 

(4) If no to question (2), what is the Attorney General’s response to the reported announcement by the 
federal Treasurer on 27 April 2007 of the appointment of Mr Lucy? 

(5) Does the Attorney General support the re-employment of Mr Jeffrey Lucy?  

(6) Will the Attorney General object to the appointment of Mr Jeffrey Lucy as ASIC commissioner?   

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Between August 2002 and March 2004, the former Minister for Consumer Protection and the 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection wrote to the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission and to the parliamentary secretary to the federal Treasurer advising that the 
then new arrangement for financing development projects through mezzanine finance posed a 
substantial risk to investors.  I note that ASIC has taken a number of actions in relation to the Westpoint 
and Fincorp collapses.  I also note that ASIC’s performance is the subject of regular review by the 
federal parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services. 

(2) No. 
(3) Not applicable. 
(4)-(6) The appointment of the chairman and the commissioners of ASIC is the responsibility of the federal 

Treasurer.  The Western Australian government does not have sufficient information about Mr Lucy’s 
performance in his role at ASIC to form a view about his proposed appointment. 

STATE BUDGET - WET LINE FISHING REVIEW 

303. Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE to the Minister for Fisheries: 
An amount of $7.5 million has been identified in the budget as an adjustment following the wet line fishing 
review.  What fishers will be the beneficiaries of this package and when will the package be finalised? 

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank Hon Murray Criddle for the question.  Yes, there is an amount of $7.5 million in the budget, of which 
$2.5 million has been allocated for this financial year and the other $5 million is for the adjustment for the 
following year.  This relates to the compensation required under the Fish Resources Management Act for 
adjustment schemes.  It is a very substantial package that recognises the effect that the wet line review will have 
on the adjustment.  Indeed, it is the largest government-initiated adjustment package in the history of this state. 

I met with the Western Australian Fishing Industry Council yesterday to discuss with it my likely final decision 
on the benchmarks and allocation rights, which in effect will be the point at which the adjustment will be made 
and compensation will be paid.  I have given the council an undertaking to give it my final decision next 
Tuesday.  Under the act, I am then required to establish an adjustment panel, which will be provided by the 
government with terms of reference that have been negotiated with the industry council.  The panel will then 
come back to me with a recommendation for who will and will not get compensation.  I expect that it will 
finalise those deliberations and get back to me in September or October.  I will take the question on notice and 
give the member a much more detailed answer, if he is prepared to wait until next Tuesday. 

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING - TEACHER RESIGNATIONS AND RETIREMENTS 

304. Hon PETER COLLIER to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 
(1) How many primary and secondary teachers resigned or retired from the Department of Education and 

Training in 2004, 2005 and 2006? 
(2) Did the DET conduct any exit surveys with the teachers referred to in (1) to gauge opinion on such 

issues as the reason for resignation or retirement and employment satisfaction; and, if not, why not? 
(3) If yes to (2), will the minister table the results of these surveys for 2004, 2005 and 2006; and, if not, 

why not? 
(4) In consideration of the current teacher shortage, has the DET made any attempt to re-employ those 

teachers referred to in (1)? 
Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question.  As the answer is in tabular form, I seek leave to table it and 
have it incorporated into Hansard. 
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Leave granted. 

[See paper 2710.] 

The following material was incorporated - 
I thank the Hon. Member for some notice of this question. 
The Department of Education and Training has advised as follows: 

1. The number of primary and secondary teachers who retired or resigned from the DET in 2004, 2005 and 2006: 

 Primary Teachers Secondary Teachers 

 Retired Resigned Retired Resigned 

2004 94 46 104 54 

2005 147 67 104 91 

2006 154 73 161 90 

2. All staff ceasing employment with the Department are asked to indicate the reason for termination.  These reasons include: 

expiry of fixed term contract promotion to other public sector agency 

resigned - family responsibilities resigned - full time study 

resigned - ill health resigned - job dissatisfaction 

resigned - location resigned - other reason 

resigned - other work resigned - pay level 

resigned - pregnancy resigned - teaching non-government 

resigned - teaching interstate resigned - workers compensation 

resigned - working conditions resigned - voluntary (must be over 55) 

In addition, exit surveys are available and administered at the worksite. 

3. The reasons indicated for termination on the Termination Advice notices can be made available with sufficient notice. 

4. Yes.  A number of teachers who retire are re-employed each year.  The Department is examining a number of strategies relating to the 
employment of teachers who have left the Department. 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN COLLEGE OF TEACHING ACT 2004 - TEACHER REGISTRATION FEE 

305. Hon GEORGE CASH to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 

(1) Is there a provision in the Western Australian College of Teaching Act 2004 that enables a teacher to 
refuse to pay the prescribed fee for registration as a teacher on the ground of conscientious objection; 
and, if so, will the minister advise of the relevant section of the act? 

(2) What penalty is provided for a teacher who teaches while not registered in accordance with the act or 
for a school that employs an unregistered teacher? 

(3) Given that many teachers who are currently employed and working as teachers are not registered as 
required by the act, how can the minister be sure that there are not persons currently teaching who 
would not qualify for registration because of a criminal conviction for a serious offence against a child 
or for some other serious offence? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank Hon George Cash for some notice of this question. 

(1) No. 

(2) Section 83 of the act makes it an offence for a person to claim or pretend to be entitled to teach in a 
school.  The penalty for a first offence is $5 000.  The penalty for a second or subsequent offence is 
$10 000. 

(3) The college is not aware of any unregistered teachers currently employed in schools.  Teachers 
currently in arrears for their annual dues are still registered teachers because the college must follow 
due process as outlined in the act prior to removing any member from its register, those processes are 
still in progress, and payments are still being received and processed by the college daily. 

ALCOA - VARIATION TO STATE AGREEMENT ACT 

306. Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for State 
Development: 

I refer to the agreement dated 25 March 2007 between the Premier and Alcoa of Australia Ltd. 
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(1) Does the agreement seek to vary the state agreement ratified by the Alumina Refinery (Wagerup) 
Agreement and Acts Amendment Act 1978? 

(2) Have previous variations to that state agreement act been ratified by amending legislation? 

(3) Does the government intend to introduce a bill to ratify the variation proposed by the agreement of 
25 March 2007? 

(4) If not, why not? 

Hon KATE DOUST replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Yes. 

(2) A ratified variation, No 86 of 1987, of the Alumina Refinery Agreement Act 1961 - the principal 
agreement - the Alumina Refinery (Pinjarra) Agreement Act 1969 and the Alumina Refinery (Wagerup) 
Agreement and Acts Amendment Act 1978 received royal assent on 9 December 1987.  A non-ratified 
variation to the Alumina Refinery (Wagerup) Agreement and Acts Amendment Act 1978 came into 
effect on 28 June 2000, following a tabling process in the Parliament. 

(3) No. 

(4) Based on legal advice, the variation agreement signed by the state and Alcoa on 25 March 2007 meets 
the requirements of clause 28 of the principal agreement, which provides for varying any of the 
provisions of the Wagerup agreement by agreement in writing between the parties, subject to 
completion of a tabling process in both houses of Parliament for 12 sitting days.  The variation was 
tabled in the Legislative Council on 1 May 2007 and in the Legislative Assembly on 8 May 2007. 

BUSSELTON LANDFILL SITE - LICENCE CONDITIONS 

307. Hon NIGEL HALLETT to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Climate 
Change: 

I refer to the response to question without notice 266 asked on Tuesday, 8 May 2007. 

(1) Can the minister advise what are the levels of each of the following elements between 1998 and 2007 
from the nine monitoring bore locations: pH, electrical conductivity, total dissolved solids, nutrients, 
potassium chloride, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, manganese, nickel and zinc? 

(2) What is the location of each of the nine bores at the Rendezvous Road landfill site? 

(3) When will the Department of Environment and Conservation complete the review of the relevant 
reports as advised in the response to question without notice 266? 

Hon SALLY TALBOT replied: 

I thank Hon Nigel Hallett for some notice of this question.  I have answers to all three parts of the question. 

(1)-(2) The answers to parts (1) and (2) are in a very complex tabular form, so I seek leave to table the attached 
information. 

Leave granted.  [See paper 2711.] 

Hon SALLY TALBOT:  The answer to part (3) reads - 

(3) The water quality information received from the shire will be reviewed by 30 June 2007.  Following 
this review, a written response will be provided to the shire advising on the water quality monitoring 
results, levels of analytes measured with respect to historical trends, the monitoring frequency and the 
future licensing requirements of the Rendezvous Road rubbish site. 

WEST KIMBERLEY POWER PROJECT - RETICULATED GAS 

308. Hon KEN BASTON to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Energy: 
I refer to newsletter 15 of the West Kimberley Power Project, for which the Queensland company Energy 
Development Ltd was the successful tenderer.  Given that a 45-kilogram cylinder of gas now costs $126 in 
Broome - 

(1) What commitment is required of EDL to investigate the viability of reticulating gas through Broome 
and the other four towns serviced by the West Kimberley Power Project? 

(2) Will Horizon Power be requesting that EDL investigate the viability of reticulating gas through the five 
towns; if so, when; and, if not, why not? 
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Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
Again, I have an answer to that question but I do not have a duplicate copy of it.  However, I will be able to 
supply it.  I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question. 

(1) EDL is installing liquefied natural gas storage facilities in Broome, Derby, Fitzroy Crossing and Halls 
Creek for the purpose of providing natural gas to the power station at each town.  EDL has advised that 
it has committed to investigating the opportunity for the sale of natural gas for domestic and 
commercial use in these towns and the broader region. 

(2) Yes.  Horizon Power is in discussions with EDL regarding the viability of the retail sale of gas to 
residential and business customers in regional Western Australia. 

GENETICALLY MODIFIED ORGANISMS INDUSTRY REFERENCE GROUP 

309. Hon ANTHONY FELS to the Minister for Agriculture and Food: 

(1) How many times has the GMO Industry Reference Group met since its formation was announced in 
2005? 

(2) How many reports has the reference group published since its formation in 2005? 

(3) Has the group reported any significant findings since its formation? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

(1)-(3) I am not entirely sure how many times the reference group has met, because although I am currently the 
chair of the reference group, there was a period - probably seven or eight months - when the reference 
group was chaired by the then parliamentary secretary, Tony McRae.  He ceased to chair the reference 
group when he became a minister, and I have chaired it since then.  I estimate that it has met between 
10 and 15 times in that bracket.  It has not issued a public report.  The methodology that is employed by 
the GM reference group is to investigate matters very closely with my office.  It will release for public 
discussion a range of discussion papers at a time that it feels is appropriate.  The first of those 
discussion papers will be, by agreement, a discussion paper on GM cotton.  That is due for release quite 
soon.  The second of the discussion papers that it will release will be on GM canola.  The initial stages 
of the construction of that document have now begun.  I anticipate that that paper could be released 
within about nine or 10 months from now.  The GM cotton paper could be released as early as this 
month or early next month. 

DR NEALE FONG - AIR TRAVEL 

310. Hon RAY HALLIGAN to the minister representing the Minister for Health: 
Regarding the air travel undertaken by the Department of Health director general Neale Fong for the calendar 
years 2004, 2005, 2006 and the first three months of 2007, what were the dates, destinations and reasons for 
travel? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question.  The answer is in tabular form and so I will table it and seek 
leave to have it incorporated into Hansard. 

Leave granted. 

[See paper 2712.] 

The following material was incorporated - 
I thank the Hon. Member for some notice of this question. 

Dr Neale Fong appointed Acting Director General 24 November 2004. 

AHMC - Australian Health Ministers Conference 

AHMAC - Australian Health Ministers Advisory Council 

NEHTA - National e-Health Transition Authority 

AHWOC - Australian Health Workforce Officials Committee 

HWPC - Health Workforce Principal Committee 

2004 

 

DATES OF TRAVEL DESTINATION REASON 

29-30/11 Sydney Vasse Program Meeting 
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2005 

DATES OF TRAVEL DESTINATION REASON 

27-28/1 Sydney AHMC meeting 

1-2/3 Canberra AHMAC meeting 

5-6/5 Sydney Australian Institute of Health Policy 
Studies - Inaugural National Health 
Policy Roundtable 

29-30/6 Melbourne AHMAC meeting 

10-19/6 London, UK Visit to University Hospitals 
Coventry and Warwickshire NHS 
Trust 

27-28/7 Alice Springs AHMC Meeting 

19-20/10 Brisbane AHMAC and NEHTA Meetings 

17-18/11 Adelaide AHMC meeting 

7-8/12 Sydney NEHTA and AHMAC meetings 

2006 

DATES OF TRAVEL DESTINATION REASON 

19-21/2 Melbourne AHWOC Meeting 

11-23/3 England, Scotland, France & Netherlands Overseas Ministerial Tour 

6-7/4 Wellington, NZ AHMC Meeting 

8-14/4 Chicago, USA BIO 2006 Conference. 

18-21/5 Sydney 1. Speaker at L21 Public Sector 
Leadership Series 

2. Meeting with Australian 
Healthcare Assn. 

3. Meeting with Senior Executives 
of RACS 

8-9/6 Sydney National E-Health Board and 
AHMAC meetings 

26-27/7 Brisbane AHMC Meeting 

30-31/7 Adelaide AHWOC Meeting 

25/9-1/10 Melbourne HWPC Meeting 

25-26/10 Brisbane AHMAC Meeting 

8-9/11 Brisbane Australian Healthcare Assn. Congress 

16-17/11 Sydney AHMC Meeting 

2007 

DATES OF TRAVEL DESTINATION REASON 

16-18/1 Singapore Visit to National Neuroscience 
Institute of Singapore 

31/1-2/2 Sydney HWPC Meeting 

15-16/2 Sydney NEHTA Board Meeting 

27/2-1/3 Canberra AHMAC Meeting 

29-30/3 Melbourne AHMC Meeting 

 

QUEEN ELIZABETH II MEDICAL CENTRE PRECINCT- TRANSPORT 

311. Hon SIMON O’BRIEN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

I am keen to have another go.  I refer to the proposed redevelopment of the Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre 
precinct to accommodate the functions of the existing QEII Medical Centre, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, 
Royal Perth Hospital, Princess Margaret Hospital for Children and the King Edward Memorial Hospital. 
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(1) What assessments have been carried out to identify transport needs for the development and its 
integration with the local community and existing transport links, including key transport corridors, 
public transport requirements, parking for patients and staff, and traffic management generally? 

(2) Will the minister provide a copy of the reports of the assessments referred to in question (1)? 

Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) The Department for Planning and Infrastructure has been working actively with the Department of 
Health to address a number of critical transport issues that were identified in the draft structure plan for 
the site.  A public transport master plan is being prepared by DPI to establish the future demand for and 
distribution of new bus services required to cater for the growth of the University of Western Australia 
and the QEII precinct.  Current work is identifying further bus routes and bus priority measures to 
support these new services.  It is anticipated that the master plan will be completed by the middle of the 
year.  The QEII Medical Centre travel plan has been prepared, encompassing parking management and 
green transport options.  This is the largest and most comprehensive travel plan for a workplace in Perth 
and sets out commitments to manage employee and visitor parking and access, the implementation of 
which will be the responsibility of the QEII Medical Centre Trust. 

The public transport master plan and the travel plan will underpin the final structure plan for the 
development of the QEII precinct and will be critical factors to be taken into account by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission when it considers this structure plan.  These plans will be supported 
by an access parking strategy that the Department of Health has prepared for all hospital sites in Perth.  
This strategy is being finalised by the Department of Health and will seek to prioritise access to parking 
for patients, visitors and staff. 

(2) The reports for the above strategies and plans are presently working documents and will be publicly 
available when the structure plan for the QEII precinct has been approved by the WA Planning 
Commission. 

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD - SALARIES 

312. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the Minister for Agriculture and Food: 
I refer to the budget of the Department of Agriculture and Food under “employee benefit expenses”, which is 
basically the wages of the employees of the minister’s department.  I direct the minister to the 2006-07 budget 
expenses of $84.5 million and the estimated actuals for 2006-07 of $98 million.  A rough calculation suggests 
that that is a 19 per cent increase in salaries for the department.  Will the minister explain the reason for that 
quite significant variation? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
I thank the Leader of the Opposition for the question.  It is true that the full-time equivalent list at the 
Department of Agriculture and Food was significantly larger than it was anticipated to be.  There are multiple 
causes of that increase in staff.  There are two areas in particular that made a very significant contribution to the 
absolute number of FTEs and the dollar value of the wages and salaries line item.  They were, in order, the 
additional staff that were hired or retained for the starlings program, and the additional staff and additional time 
that was paid for the locust program.  Between those two, that is a total expenditure in that year of between 
$10 million and $11 million.  Labour constituted a large part of these two emergency programs.  There were 
other issues that were of the nature of emergency response programs that could not reasonably have been 
anticipated for the 2006-07 budget.  The other of those two - I am a little uncertain and this is why I did not 
include it in the primary two - refers to the staff who were hired for the European house borer program.  I suspect 
not in that case, as I think the EHB program was probably anticipated in the budget period, but I am just thinking 
back to try to get the time lines.  However, locusts and starlings would have been major contributors. 

ROOTS OF EMPATHY PROGRAM - DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

313. Hon BARBARA SCOTT to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 
(1) Will the minister table the research that has been conducted on the Roots of Empathy program? 

(2) If not, why not? 

(3) How many teachers have already been trained to conduct the Roots of Empathy program, and how 
many schools have registered for the program this year? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
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(1) On 23 April 2007 I approved the publication of the evaluation of the Roots of Empathy pilot that will be 
available on the Department of Education and Training’s website within the next two weeks. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) Seventeen instructors were trained in 2005.  Of the original 18 schools that piloted the program, six 
schools are continuing this year. 

BALGA WORKS PROGRAM - FUNDING 

314. Hon PETER COLLIER to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 
I refer to the minister’s response to question on notice 4514. 

(1) In reference to answer 3(a), who was the “Deputy Director General of Finance and Administration” 
who authorised direct program grants on 1 February 2005, 1 November 2005, 1 February 2006, 1 April 
2006, 1 September 2006 and 1 November 2006? 

(2) In reference to answer 3(a), who was the “Director of Retention and Transition” who authorised direct 
program grants on 1 November 2005 and 1 September 2006? 

(3) Did the officers referred to in (1) and (2) approve the grants - 

(a) unilaterally; or 

(b) in consultation with other officers from the Department of Education and Training? 

(4) If the response to (3) is (b), will the minister name the officer or officers; and, if not, why not? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Peter McCaffrey 

(2) David Ansell 

(3)-(4) (i) The school grant and direct program grants approved by Mr McCaffrey were the school’s 
entitlements for either formulae based on per capita payments or the conversion of staffing 
entitlements to cash payments as requested by the school to enable it to meet commitments to 
Hurson Pty Ltd for services rendered.  This was in accord with the funding arrangements 
available to all schools and is based on student enrolment levels. 

(ii) With regard to Mr Ansell, the school was allocated and received special program funding in 
recognition of the higher cost of educating at-risk students.  This decision was made in 
consultation with other officers to pilot new programs and strategies. 

COMPANION CARD 

315. Hon SIMON O’BRIEN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

I refer to my statement made to the house during an adjournment debate on 27 March relating to the unforeseen 
adverse impacts of the Companion Card on people with disabilities in education support centres. 

(1) Does the parliamentary secretary have any procedure in place to take up such statements with the 
minister and to provide a response; and, if so, will I ever receive a response? 

(2) If not, why not? 

Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 

I thank the honourable member for the question without notice. 

(1)-(2) Yes, I have taken the matter up with the minister; yes, there is a procedure in place; and yes, a series of 
meetings is taking place with the Department of Education and Training, the Public Transport Authority 
and the Disability Services Commission to resolve the matter, and I expect to have an answer shortly. 

Hon Simon O’Brien interjected. 

The PRESIDENT:  Hon Nigel Hallett has the call. 

Hon Simon O’Brien interjected. 

The PRESIDENT:  Order!  The Deputy Leader of the Opposition has asked a question; it has been answered.  
Hon Nigel Hallett has the call. 



 [COUNCIL - Thursday, 10 May 2007] 2055 

 

PHOTOVOLTAIC POWER SYSTEMS - GOVERNMENT REBATE 

316. Hon NIGEL HALLETT to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Energy: 
I refer to question without notice 251 in relation to the five per cent state government rebate previously made 
available for the purchase of photovoltaic power systems.  For the period 2001 until the depletion of funding, 
please advise - 

(1) The number of grants administered? 

(2) How many of these funded photovoltaic systems are located in - 

(a) rural towns; 

(b) pastoral leases; 

(c) Aboriginal communities; and 
(d) remote areas? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
I do not know why it is, Mr President, but the one time I get a touch drowsy in question time I receive two 
questions in my capacity as minister representing the Minister for Energy.  It just does not seem fair; does it? 
Hon Simon O’Brien:  You’re not the only one asleep on your side - not by a long shot!  Just stick two fingers 
up, that’s the normal response, and don’t worry about it! 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  Now, now! 
Several members interjected. 
The PRESIDENT:  Order, members!  Deputy Leader of the Opposition, the Leader of the House is about to get 
to the point of answering the question and I will then give the call to the Leader of the Opposition, who is keen 
to ask a question. 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  Again, this is an answer that has come in late and is therefore not in duplicate form.  
However, it is a lengthy and quite technical answer and I table the answer and seek leave for its incorporation in 
Hansard. 
Leave granted. 
[See paper 2713.] 
The following material was incorporated - 
(1) From 1 July 2001, when the Remote Area Power Supply Program was introduced, up to 30 April 2007, 544 rebates totalling $18.48 
million were paid under the program.  All of these rebates attracted the State contribution. 

(2) Please note that the Remote Area Power Supply Program provides rebates for wind and micro-hydro systems as well as photovoltaic 
systems. 

Of the 544 rebates paid under the Remote Area Power Supply Program up to 30 April 2007: 

(a) 14 rebates totalling $290 000 have been paid for grid-connect renewable energy systems installed in towns outside of the Pilbara and 
South West electricity grids. 

(b) 190 rebates totalling $7.92 million have been paid for renewable energy systems used on pastoral stations. 

(c) 64 rebates totalling $3.50 million have been paid for renewable energy systems serving Aboriginal communities. 

(d) The value of rebates paid via region is as follows: 

Kimberley $5 900 000 

Pilbara $3 325 000 

Mid West $2 843 000 

Goldfields Esperance $1 820 000 

Gascoyne $1 682 000 

South West $1 366 000 

Wheatbelt $730 000 

Great Southern $384 000 

Peel $273 000 

Perth (Outskirts) $159 000 

WITTENOOM RELOCATION FUND - STATE BUDGET 
317. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the Minister for Regional Development: 
On page 344 of today’s Budget Statements under the heading “Local Government and Regional Development” 
there is provision for $36 000 for the Wittenoom relocation fund.  Will the minister explain to the house what 
this fund will be used for? 
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 Hon JON FORD replied: 

I thank the honourable Leader of the Opposition for some notice of the question. 

Indeed there is a little more money than that.  For the bulk of services in the table under the heading 
“Appropriation and Forward Estimates” on page 343, which includes appropriations for items such as the 
regional investment fund, $1.8 million is also allocated in 2007-08 for the Wittenoom relocation funding 
program and another $400 000 in 2008-09.  We will take a significantly different approach to relocation for the 
remaining residents.  The program is currently going through the final phase in the department with a view to 
commencing negotiations with the residents, I hope, next week.  Once that has been done, I will be happy to 
discuss the details with the Leader of the Opposition.  I would be happy to do it now, but I think it is more 
appropriate that the people outside the department who hear about it first are the residents who will be affected.  
The money is there deliberately and purposely for the relocation of the remaining residents. 

QUESTION WITHOUT NOTICE 238 
Answer Advice 

HON SUE ELLERY (South Metropolitan - Minister for Child Protection) [4.40 pm]:  In the response I gave 
to Hon Peter Collier’s question without notice 238 on Thursday, 3 May, I undertook to table a number of 
invoices for payments made by the Department for Community Development to the Balga Parents and Citizens 
Association for the Balga Works program for a range of dates.  I advised at that time that there were a large 
number of invoices and they contained identifying information about young people in the care of the CEO of the 
Department for Community Development that had to be removed.  The invoices have now been collated and all 
the identifying information has been removed, and I table them as I indicated I would.  

[See paper 2714.]   

BIOSECURITY AND AGRICULTURE MANAGEMENT BILL 2006 
Committee 

Resumed from an earlier stage of the sitting.  The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Ken Travers) in the 
chair; Hon Kim Chance (Minister for Agriculture and Food) in charge of the bill. 

Clause 28:  Compliance with pest exclusion notice - 
Committee was interrupted after the amendments moved by Hon Kim Chance had been partly considered. 

Amendments put and passed. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed. 

Clause 29:  Duty to control declared pest - 

Hon KIM CHANCE:  I believe that the amendments to clause 29 will need to be moved separately.   

The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN (Hon Ken Travers):  The general view is that they are the same; that is, that 
amendments 26/29 and 27/29 listed on the supplementary notice paper are the same and they can be moved 
together, unless members want them dealt with separately.   

Hon KIM CHANCE:  In the absence of any howls of protest, I move - 

Page 31, lines 10 to 12 - To delete “may include, after consultation with the authority, a summary of the 
authority’s failure in the department’s next annual report” and insert instead - 

, after consultation with the authority, must include in the department’s next annual report a 
statement on the performance of the public authority in relation to compliance with this 
Division 

Page 31, lines 13 to 18 - To delete the lines and insert instead - 

(8) A statement under subsection (7) may include -  

(a) any explanation offered by the authority in relation to its compliance with 
this Division; and 

(b) recommendations as to how compliance could be improved. 

The arguments are essentially the same as I used when we were debating the amendments to clause 28.   

Amendments put and passed. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed.   

Clause 30 put and passed.   
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Clause 31:  Compliance with pest control notice - 
Hon KIM CHANCE:  This is deja vu.  I move - 

Page 33, lines 28 to 30 - To delete “may include, after consultation with the authority, a summary of the 
authority’s failure in the department’s next annual report” and insert instead - 

, after consultation with the authority, must include in the department’s next annual report a 
statement on the performance of the public authority in relation to compliance with this 
Division 

Page 34, lines 1 to 6 - To delete the lines and insert instead - 

(3) A statement under subsection (2) may include -  

(a) any explanation offered by the authority in relation to its compliance with 
this Division; and 

(b) recommendations as to how compliance could be improved. 

I advise that the effect of these amendments is the same as for the amendments to clauses 28 and 29.   

Amendments put and passed. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed. 

Clauses 32 to 35 put and passed.   

Clause 36:  SAT review: pest control notice or pest keeping notice -   
Hon KIM CHANCE:  I move - 

Page 36, line 29 - To delete “specify circumstances” and insert instead - 

prescribe circumstances relating to a matter of emergency or urgent need 

I advise that this is what I said I would refer to as a recommendation 3 amendment.  To refresh honourable 
members’ memory, it actually gives effect to the committee’s recommendation 3 so as to restrict the regulation 
making power to prescribing only circumstances of emergency or urgent need in which a right to seek a State 
Administrative Tribunal review does not apply.  Subsequent amendments, as I indicated when we were dealing 
with clause 27, would be referred to as recommendation 3 amendments and this is the second of those. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  What clause are we on?   

The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN:  We are dealing with clause 36.   

Hon GIZ WATSON:  I find this totally unacceptable.  The Leader of the House told me that we would not be 
dealing with this bill after question time.  I wanted to vote against clause 28.  I was given an assurance that we 
would not be dealing with this bill for the rest of the afternoon.   

Hon Kim Chance:  The circumstances changed, I am sorry. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  Thank you very much.  The Leader of the House cannot change circumstances at 
30 seconds’ notice.   

Hon Kim Chance:  I did not change them; these circumstances changed.  It is the member’s duty to be aware of 
the circumstances.  

Hon NORMAN MOORE:  I know this does not relate to the clause.  I think the honourable member should stay 
in the chamber for a second.  There has been some confusion today in respect of what would happen because of 
the reception that the Governor is holding tonight.  The proposal that I put to the Leader of the House to try to 
overcome the problem of members being here too late and not having time to get to the reception was that if 
members wished to speak on the adjournment debate, I would advise the Leader of the House that there were 
members wishing to do that and he would put the adjournment at 4.30.  That would enable the house to finish by 
about five o’clock.  As there were no members wishing to speak on the adjournment, I indicated to the Leader of 
the House that I would be quite happy to continue with government business until five o’clock and for the house 
to adjourn at five o’clock without any adjournment debate.  That would give us time to go to the reception.  I 
apologise if any involvement I had in it might have affected Hon Giz Watson’s understanding of what was 
happening.  Having had a quick discussion with a few people, there is some confusion.  I do not know whether it 
is possible to return to clause 28.  Maybe that could be done by agreement.  If I played a role in causing the 
confusion, I apologise to the member.   

Hon KIM CHANCE:  There is absolutely no reason for the Leader of the Opposition to apologise.  It is 
unfortunate that the honourable member was not in the house when the decision was made, but in order to 
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accommodate her I would be quite happy to discuss the possibility of recommitting clause 28 to allow her to 
vote.   

Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I want to put on the record that I was not aware that there had been changes.  I 
was not even aware that we had that other arrangement in place.  I am here because of another circumstance.  I 
have sympathy for Hon Giz Watson, if that is the situation.   

Hon GIZ WATSON:  The problem for me is that the way in which we work here does rely on a fair degree of 
communication.  We are now on clause 36 and there are, apart from clause 28, other clauses that I would have 
spoken on.  I do not have my paperwork with me because I packed it away on the understanding we were not 
dealing with any more business this afternoon.  I do not have the capacity to get that in the next 10 minutes and 
deal with the bill. 

Hon Kim Chance:  We will knock off. 

Hon GIZ WATSON:  That would be an excellent idea. 

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again.   

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE 
On motion without notice by Hon Kim Chance (Leader of the House), resolved - 

That the house at its rising adjourn until Tuesday, 29 May 2007. 

House adjourned at 4.51 pm 

__________ 
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 

Questions and answers are as supplied to Hansard. 

BALGA WORKS PROGRAM - FUNDING 

4478. Hon Peter Collier to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Will the Minister advise if funds have been provided to the following for the Balga Works Program -  

(a) Balga Senior High School; 

(b) Balga Parents and Citizens Association; 

(c) Hurson Pty Ltd; 

(d) Blue Hole Properties Pty Ltd; 

(e) Manufacturing Industry Training Services; 

(f) IT Works; 

(g) YELP Pty Ltd; 

(h) ITF; and 

(i) The Carton and Day Family Trust? 
(2) If yes to (1), what amount of funding was provided to each of the above and on what dates? 
(3) In each case, will the Minister advise who approved and authorised the funding? 
(4) If no to (1) and (3), why not? 
Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 

Please refer to Parliamentary Question on Notice LC 4509 referred to the Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure. 

BALGA WORKS PROGRAM - FUNDING 

4509. Hon Peter Collier to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Will the Minister advise if funds have been provided to the following for the Balga Works Program -  

(a) Balga Senior High School; 

(b) Balga Parents and Citizens Association; 

(c) Hurson Pty Ltd; 

(d) Blue Hole Properties Pty Ltd; 

(e) Manufacturing Industry Training Services; 

(f) IT Works; 

(g) YELP Pty Ltd; 

(h) ITF; and 

(i) The Carton and Day Family Trust? 
(2) If yes to (1), what amount of funding was provided to each of the above and on what dates? 
(3) In each case, will the Minister advise who approved and authorised the funding? 
(4) If no to (1) and (3), why not? 
Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 

Albany Port Authority, Armadale Redevelopment Authority, Broome Port Authority, Bunbury Port Authority, 
Dampier Port Authority, Department for Planning and Infrastructure, Esperance Port Authority, East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority, Eastern Goldfields Transport Board, Fremantle Port Authority, Geraldton Port 
Authority, LandCorp, Main Roads WA, Midland Redevelopment Authority, Office of the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure, Public Transport Authority, Port Hedland Port Authority Subiaco Redevelopment Authority, 
WA Planning Commission: 
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(1) No funds where provided. 

(2)-(4) N/A 

MINISTERIAL OFFICES, GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES - COMPUTERS - LOST OR 
STOLEN 

4609. Hon Ray Halligan to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Water Resources 

For each Department and Agency under the Minister’s control, including the Ministerial office -  

(1) How many laptop, notebook and palm computers have been reported lost or stolen for the six months 
to 31 December 2006? 

(2) What was the total value of the computers that were lost or stolen? 

(3) Did any of these computers contain information that could be regarded as sensitive? 

(4) What steps have been taken to ensure that any commercial or sensitive information was not 
compromised? 

(5) Was the loss or theft of any of these computers reported to the police? 

(6) If yes to (5), when were these reports made? 

(7) Of those reported, what has been the outcome? 

(8) If any were not reported to the police, why not? 

(9) What steps, if any, have been put into place with a view to eliminating, or at least reducing, these 
losses? 

(10) When were these steps put into place? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

Ministerial Office: 

Refer to question on notice 4598. 

Department of Water: 

(1) In the six (6) months up to 31 December 2006, the Department of Water had one (1) laptop stolen. 

(2) The total cost of the stolen equipment was $1,700. 

(3) The laptop held a record of three compliance interviews which could be regarded as sensitive. 

(4) Every laptop requires a user name and password in order to login and access files or programs. If that 
barrier could be overcome, the location of a user's files is defined as part of that user's profile and 
cannot be accessed by any other user (other than someone using the administrator login and password). 

(5) Yes, the stolen equipment was reported to the police. 

(6) The police report was made on the day that the owner reported the theft to Information Services. 

(7) The stolen equipment has not been recovered. 

(8) Not applicable. 

(9) Steps taken to eliminate or reduce such losses include: 

(a) A policy on laptop usage that highlights the risk of loss and the requirement to ensure such 
devices are kept safe 

(b) The provision of this policy in printed form to every new laptop user 

(10) The policy was created for the Department of Water in May 2006. The provision of the policy in printed 
form to each new laptop user has only just been implemented. 

Water Corporation: 

(1) Five laptop computers were stolen, four palm computers were stolen, seven palm computers were lost. 

(2) $19,820 

(3) No. 

(4) Not applicable. 

(5) The stolen laptop computers and palm computers were reported. 

(6) Reports were made as soon as the thefts became apparent. 
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(7) No laptop computers or palm computers have been recovered. 

(8) The seven palm computers that were lost were not reported to the police, as they had not been stolen. 

(9) Users are reminded to secure the devices as and when appropriate. 

(10) When the devices are issued. 
Busselton Water Board: 
(1) Nil. 
(2)-(10) Not applicable. 
Aqwest: 
(1)-(2) Nil. 
(3)-(10) Not applicable. 

WATER RESOURCES - USE OF UNDERGROUND COAL VOIDS IN COLLIE TO STORE WATER 

4700. Hon Paul Llewellyn to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Water Resources 

Further to question on notice 4440 of 27 March 2007, in relation to Griffin Coal’s water diversion from Collie 
River into their open-cut mining voids, I ask -  

(1) What research has been undertaken to investigate the effect of pumping saline water into coal voids on 
the fresh water aquifer below the voids? 

(2) What are the outcomes of that research? 

(3) When will the Minister make this information available? 

(4) If no research has been undertaken, why not? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

(1) The Department of Water (DoW) has advised that there is an investigation currently underway to 
evaluate the use of Chicken Creek 4 coal void to temporarily store diverted brackish river water. 
Monitoring bores around the Chicken Creek 4 coal void are to be used to assess the effect on the aquifer 
below this void. 

(2) The outcomes of these investigations are still to be determined. The results from the first two years of 
monitoring are currently being collated and will then be analysed. A decision whether further 
monitoring is required prior to final analysis and reporting will then be made. 

(3) The DoW will make this information available on completion of the investigations. 

(4) Refer to (2). 

OXYGENATION OF CANNING RIVER AND IMPACT ON RIVERS OF NUTRIENTS FROM WASTE 
WATER TREATMENT PLANTS 

4701. Hon Helen Morton to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for the Environment 

(1) What has been the total expenditure per year to operate the oxygenation plant at Bacon Street in 
Cannington since commencement of the program? 

(2) Over what area (square metres) does the oxygenation plant increase the oxygenation level in the 
Canning River? 

(3) What is the impact of the tidal movements on the oxygenation plants? 

(4) In relation to (1), what was the benefit achieved by making the expenditure when fish kills are still 
occurring? 

(5) How successful has the oxygenation plant at Bacon Street been on eliminating fish kills downstream of 
the Kent Street Weir? 

(6) What is the total nutrient input in tonnes per annum from the Water Corporations waste water treatment 
plants situated on the catchments feeding the Swan Canning Estuary, including the Avon Catchment? 

(7) What is the total nutrient output in tonnes per annum from each waste water treatment plant on the 
Swan Canning Catchment and the Avon River Catchment? 

(8) What does the oxygenation plants do to remove the nutrients that cause algae blooms? 

(9) What is the Swan River Trust doing to reduce the impact of nutrients coming from the Water 
Corporation wastewater treatment plants, situated on the Avon and Swan Canning Catchments? 
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Hon SALLY TALBOT replied: 

Swan River Trust 

(1) The below figures incorporate expenditure for the two oxygenation plants Bacon Street and Camsell 
Way. 

1997-98  $50,000+20,000 (BOC) = $70,000 
1998-99  $220,000 
1999-2000 $91,556+$235,000 (Coast and Clean Seas) = $326,556 
2000-01  $285,000 
2001-02  $285,000 + $1,811 (Coast and Clean Seas) = $286,811 
2002-03  $140,022 
2003-04  $140,000 
2004-05  $140,000 
2005-06  $140,000 + $87,000 for upgrade of the pipes and maintenance 
2006-07  $140,000 

(2) The Canning River oxygenation plants oxygenate 2.3km of the river. 

(3) In the Canning River, the zone of oxygenation is above the Kent Street Weir and operates when the 
weir is closed, therefore not influenced by tidal movement. 

The effect of tidal movements on the zone of oxygenation for the Swan River oxygenation trial will be 
assessed as part of the ongoing feasibility study. 

(4) No fish deaths have occurred within the zones of oxygenation. 

(5) The Canning River oxygenation plants are situated above the Kent Street Weir and only operate when 
the weir is closed. During this period, there is negligible exchange between the freshwater upstream and 
the saline water downstream of the weir, therefore the oxygenation does not influence downstream 
conditions and has no effect on limiting fish deaths downstream of the weir. 

(6) Please refer to the Minister for Water Resources. 

(7) Please refer to the Minister for Water Resources. 

(8) When oxygen levels are low, decomposition and nutrient recycling processes are inhibited and can also 
lead to sediments releasing nutrients. By increasing the oxygen levels in the bottom waters, 
decomposition and recycling processes function more efficiently, resulting in removal of nutrients from 
the system and prevention of nutrient release from sediments. With oxygen addition phosphorus is not 
released from sediments and nitrogen is removed from the water back to the atmosphere. 

(9) The Swan River Trust funds nutrient intervention programs in some tributaries of the Swan and 
Canning rivers. The locations of these programs are within priority catchments, identified through long-
term water quality monitoring. Water Corporation wastewater treatment plants may be one of many 
land-uses within the catchment that contribute to the nutrient load of the waterways. 

GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS 

4739. Hon Anthony Fels to the Minister for Local Government representing the Minister for Indigenous 
Affairs 

In reference to the Department of Indigenous Affairs contracts with ASG Asia Pacific and Oracle, I ask -  

(1) Can the Minister please provide the date and original tender price? 

(2) For each contract, can the Minister please advise how much has been paid to date? 

(3) What is the total amount paid to ASG Pacific and Oracle for -  

(a) 2005; 

(b) 2006; and 

(c) 2007 (to date)? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 

The Department of Indigenous Affairs advises: 
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(1) The Department of Indigenous Affairs (DIA) does not have any current contractual arrangements with 
ASG Asia Pacific or Oracle. However, DIA has software licence agreements for Oracle financial 
management information systems and database products. 

For ASG Asia Pacific, the date is 1 July 2005 and the amount paid is $27,666.22. 

For Oracle, original tender documents are pre 1997 and have been destroyed in accordance with DIA's 
Retention and Disposal Policy. 

(2) For the period 1997 to date, payments total $27,666.22 for ASG Asia Pacific and $380,112.83 for 
Oracle. 

(a) ASG Asia Pacific - $27,666.22 

Oracle $18,990.40 

(b) ASG Asia Pacific - nil. 

Oracle - $6,215.99 

(c) ASG Asia Pacific - nil.  

Oracle - nil. 

__________ 

 


